
 

[Type here] 
 

 
 

LOW CARBON HUB BOARD ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING  
 

 
DATE: Monday 29 July 2019 

 
TIME: 12.30 pm 

  
VENUE: Board Room, GMCA, Churchgate House, 56 Oxford 

Street, Manchester M1 6EU 
 
WIFI: 

 
Network  One Connect 
Password  iJnqP2=Hj! 
 

PARKING: Instructions are attached at the end of this agenda 
 
METROLINK:  

 
The closest Tram Stop is St Peter’s Square: 
https://tfgm.com/public-transport/tram/stops/st-
peters-square-tram 
 

 
1.   INTRODUCTION AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (CHAIR) (5 MINUTES) 

 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
 

 Eamonn Boylan (GMCA) 

 Hisham Elkadi (Salford University) 

 Phil Korbel (Cooler Projects) 

 Chris Matthews (United Utilities) 

 Roger Milburn (Arup) 

 Mark Pilling (Siemens) 

 Kiristina Poole (PHE) 

 Councillor Angeliki Stogia (MCC) 

 James Thompson and Nalin Thakker (Manchester University) 

 Simon Warburton (TfGM). 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To receive declarations of interest in any item for discussion at the meeting. 
A blank form for declaring interests has been circulated with the agenda; 
please ensure that this is returned to the Governance & Scrutiny Officer at 
the start of the meeting. 
 

1 - 2 

Public Document Pack

https://tfgm.com/public-transport/tram/stops/st-peters-square-tram
https://tfgm.com/public-transport/tram/stops/st-peters-square-tram


 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 
To consider the approval of the minutes of the meeting held on  
15 March 2019 
 

3 - 8 

For Agreement  
 

 

4.   DELIVERING THE 5 YEAR ENVIRONMENT PLAN (30 MINUTES) 
 

 

 4a Mission Based Approach - Presentation (Mark Atherton) 
 

9 - 14 

 4b Performance Report Quarter 1 2019/20 - Paper (Simon Nokes) 
 

15 - 24 

 4c Governance Changes and Terms of Reference - Paper (Chair) 
 

25 - 36 

For Discussion  
 

 

5.   COLLECTIVE PV/BATTERY PROCUREMENT - PAPER  
(MARK ATHERTON) (10 MINUTES) 
 

37 - 52 

6.   DRAFT BUILDING RETROFIT REPORT - PRESENTATION  
(SAM EVANS) (20 MINUTES) 
 

 

7.   AIR QUALITY UPDATE - VERBAL (MEGAN BLACK) (10 MINUTES) 
 

 

8.   GM ENVIRONMENT FUND - PAPER (MARK ATHERTON) (10 MINUTES) 
 

53 - 58 

For Information  
 

 

9.   PLANS AND STRATEGIES (20 MINUTES) 
 

 

 9a GM Spatial Framework - Verbal (Simon Nokes) 
 

 

 9b Tree and Woodland Strategy - Paper (Bryan Cosgrove) 
 

59 - 62 

 9c The 5 Year Environmental Plan - Handout (Mark Atherton) 
 

 

 9d Smart Energy Plan - Handout (Sean Owen) 
 

 

10.   FUNDING BIDS - LOCAL ENERGY MARKET BID - PAPER (5 MINUTES) 
 

63 - 68 



 

 

11.   DATES AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS (5 MINUTES) 
 
Future meetings would be held on the following dates at 10.00 am at 
the GMCA: 
  

 Friday 18 October 2019 

 Monday 20 January 2020 

 Friday 20 March 2020 

 Friday 24 July 2020 

 

 
For copies of papers and further information on this meeting please refer to the website 

www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk. 
Alternatively, contact the following Governance & Scrutiny Officer: 

Jenny Hollamby  jenny.hollamby@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk   0161 779 7009 
 

This agenda was issued 19 July 2019 on behalf of Eamonn Boylan, Secretary to the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority, Churchgate House, 56 Oxford Street, Manchester M1 6EU 

mailto:jenny.hollamby@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Greater Manchester Low Carbon Hub Board 
Monday 29 July 2019 
 
Declaration of Councillors’ Interests in Items Appearing on the Agenda 
 
NAME:   ____________________________________________________ 
 
DATE:   Monday 29 July 2019 
 
 

Minute Item No. / Agenda Item No. Nature of Interest Type of Interest 
 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 
 
 

 Personal / Prejudicial /  

Disclosable Pecuniary 

 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

`MINUTES OF THE GM LOW CARBON HUB BOARD HELD ON FRIDAY 15 MARCH 2019 AT 

GMCA OFFICES, CHURCHGATE HOUSE, OXFORD STREET, MANCHESTER 

 

PRESENT: 

Cllr Alex Ganotis GMCA Portfolio Lead for Green City Region (Chair) 
Patrick Allcorn    BEIS 
Louise Blythe     BBC 
Peter Emery     Electricity NW 
Tony Hotherall   City of Trees 
Phil Korbel    Cooler Projects 
Robin Lawler    Northwards Housing 
Chris Matthews   United Utilities 
Roger Milburn    Arup  
Anne Selby    GM Natural Capital Group 
James Thompson   University of Manchester  
Lee Rawlinson/Mark Easdale  Environment Agency 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
Simon Nokes    GMCA 
Mark Atherton   GMCA 
Sam Evans    GMCA 
Darryl Quantz    Public Health England (GM) 
Megan Black    TfGM 
GM Youth Council Representatives 
 

LCH/19/13  INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES 

The Chair opened the meeting and extended a warm welcome to all those in attendance. A 
particular welcome was extended to representatives of the GM Youth Council who were 
attending to provide comments on climate change and the 5 Year Environment Plan. 

Introductions took place.  

 

LCH/19/14 DECLARATIONS OF INTERST 

Roger Milburn, noted that as Arup was involved in the development of the Clean Air Plan, he 
declared an interest in any discussions relating to that item.  

 

CH/19/15 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 18 JANUARY 2019 AND ACTIONS 
ARISING  

The minutes of the Low Carbon Hub Board meeting held on 18 January 2019 were submitted. 

  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

RESOLVED/- 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 January 2019, be approved as a correct record, 
subject to noting that Mark Easdale was in attendance as a representative of the Environment 
Agency.    
 

LCH/19/17 QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE UPDATE (JANUARY – MARCH 2019) 

Mark Atherton, Assistant Director, Environment, introduced a report which provided Board 
members with an update on progress of the Low Carbon Hub for the fourth Quarter 2018/9.   

Members noted that the update, at Appendix 1 to the report, detailed areas of progress 
against the announcements from the 2018 Green Summit across the themes set out in the 
GM Climate Change Low Emission Implementation Plan, over the last quarter (October-
December 2018) and highlighted a number of key successes. The comments of Board 
members on the proposed next steps, as outlined in the appendix to the report, were also 
sought.   

RESOLVED/- 

1) That the updates on the Announcements from the 2018 Green Summit from across the 
Low Carbon Hub’s accountable bodies, as attached at Annex 01 to the report be 
welcomed and noted.   

 

2) That the recommended next steps, as set out at Appendix 1 to the report, be 
supported.  

 

LCH/19/18 DRAFT 5 YEAR ENVIRONMENT PLAN 
 

A paper on the draft 5 Year Environment Plan was presented to GMCA on 1st March (Annex 
01).  The draft 5 Year Plan (annex 02) is intended as a high-level document, with further 
detail provided in related Thematic Plans.  The Thematic plans have been developed with 
partners and consultancies over the past 12 months and will be completed over the next 
few months.  

The purpose of this paper is to present the 5 Year Plan to the Board for comment, subject to 
design and minor changes, prior to seeking final approval from GMCA on 29th March, 
following the Green Summit on 25th March.   A presentation was also provided which 
outlined:-   

a)  Our 5 Year Plan for the Environment is part of a bold set of plans to create a city 
region fit for the future.  
 

b) 5 environmental threats and challenges to Greater Manchester namely, Climate 
change – mitigation, Air Quality, Production and consumption of resources, Natural 
Environment, Climate change – resilience and adaptation and 3 opportunities of 
People, Place and Economy in tackling them.   
 

c) The Model used in informing the scale of the challenge. 

Page 4



3 
 

 

d) What was needed to be done over the next 5 years in terms of our energy supply, 
our energy demand in our buildings, our travel and transport, our consumption and 
production of resources, our natural environment and our resilience and adaptation 
to climate change.  
 

e) Set out our overall approach, which seeks to: establish the UK’s first city region Clean 
Growth Mission for carbon neutral living by 2038; driving innovation; the rapid 
deployment of energy technologies and improved resource efficiency.  
 

f) Members noted that this ambition will involve: 
 

a. defining an ambitious goal and using this to create a long-term policy 
landscape;  

b. collectively setting out tasks to mobilise people and groups to come together 
in new ways;  

c. the next step is to launch the Mission and agree challenge projects which will 
form part of it, which this plan and its priorities provide the basis for.  

In welcoming the report and presentation, the Chair highlighted that the Plan was aligned to 
the Local Industrial Strategy and that energy generation and building retrofit were key 
models of this.  

The need for good communications in promoting this Plan was highlighted. Board members 
noted that the cost, if this work did not happen, in terms of health, the environment and 
economically, was a strong message.  

In response to an enquiry regarding the length of time programmed to make these 
important changes, Members noted that the plan was for 5 Years and these formative years 
would be crucial achieving the longer term 2038 target.    

In welcoming the plan, a Board member highlighted the importance of the impact on health 
that air quality has and that the inclusion of the comments of the Health and Social Care 
Partnership would be beneficial.    

RESOLVED/- 

1) That the contents of the GMCA paper, as set out at Annex 1 to the report, be noted. 
 

2) That the comments on the draft 5 Year Plan (Annex 02) be noted.  
 
LCH/19/19  COMMENTS ON CLIMATE CHANGE AND THE 5 YEAR ENVIRONMENTAL PLAN 

Representatives of the GM Youth Council presented their thoughts on Climate Change and 
the Five Year Environmental Plan and highlighted the initiatives and campaigns they were 
supporting to promote carbon literacy.    

Board members noted that that, in terms of the plan, younger people generally prefer to 
access such documents electronically and read a concise version.  

Page 5



4 
 

The Board noted that young people had also identified that schools and other public buildings 
needed to be encouraged to be more energy efficient. The role of developing a curriculum for 
life will enable opportunities for greener jobs in GM and to encourage a culture shift where 
people repair items rather than discarding them to landfill and replacing them. The potential 
to incentivise people to recycle properly would be beneficial.  

A Board member suggested that the aspirations of the Youth Council be explored and be 
brought to future meetings of the Low Carbon Hub Board.  

RESOLVED/- 

1) That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

 

LCH/19/20 GM CLEAN AIR PLAN: UPDATE JANUARY 2019 

The Board received a report that was considered by the GMCA on 1 March 2019 providing an 
update on progress in the preparation of a GM feasibility study detailing the options available, 
subject to full funding by Government, to address nitrogen dioxide exceedances, and outlined 
a broad direction of travel in relation to the next steps and decision-making. 

Members noted that the plan would also take into account the wider socio-impacts in terms 
of air quality and the potential role of Highways England in the development of this strategy, 
given that road traffic remains a significant contributor to NO2 emissions. The report 
highlighted that in order to address this issue the Mayor is minded to introduce a penalty 
regime for non-compliant vehicles.  

The report explained that there was a need to provide a clear communication process to 
assist individuals to understand the health implications involved with air quality and how 
they can contribute to improving such. It was highlighted that ‘reward drives behavioural 
change’ and for this reason, the Plan may need to include incentives to change.  

Members noted that natural pollution barriers, such as trees, did fit into GM’s wider 
objectives and this Plan looks at improving air quality across the conurbation, as soon as 
possible. 

A Member commented that GM could link with a number of initiatives taking place across 
cities in the UK and learn from best practice rather than work in isolation.  

Members noted that there were a considerable number of older buses operating in Greater 
Manchester powered by diesel engines, contributing to NO2 emissions. The challenge faced 
by GM was that as the Mayor does not control the majority of public transport services, it 
was therefore crucial to gain national support from Government to support this.   

RESOLVED/- 

1) That the report be noted. 

2) That the PowerPoint presentation be shared with Board members.   

 
 
 
 

Page 6



5 
 

LCH/19/21  ALL OUR TREES – GM TREE AND WOODLAND STRATEGY UPDATE 
 

Tony Hotherall, City of Trees, introduced a paper which provided Board members with an 
update on the development of the GM Tree and Woodland Strategy (All Our Trees), by City 
of Trees, on behalf of the GM Forests Partnership. Members noted that the report set out 
the revised structure and intended timescales for delivery. The paper also presents outputs 
from the two main elements of the Strategy’s evidence base: headline findings from the i-
Tree exercise to model the scale, function and value of GM’s urban forest; and example 
results from the data mapping exercise employed to prioritise locations for new tree 
planting.  
 
Advice and support was sought from the group on format of consultation with and the 
process for approval and sign-off by GMCA.  
 
In noting the report, the Chair recommended that an evidence base be developed in 
relation to the scaling up of tree planting in Greater Manchester and highlighted that there 
was a need to ensure that the right species of trees which benefit air quality the best, are 
considered.     
 
RESOLVED/- 

That the structure and evidence base and approval steps, as set out in the report, be noted 
and that the format be supported.  
 

LCH/19/22  GREEN SUMMIT 2019 UPDATE AND PROPOSAL 

Mark Atherton, Assistant Director, Environment, introduced a report which provided 
Members with an update on the development of the 2019 Green Summit, event proposals 
and the work of the GM Green Summit Steering Group since the last Low Carbon Hub Board 
meeting.  

The Board was pleased to note that take up for the event was huge and that there was a 
waiting list of delegates.  

RESOLVED/- 

Note and comment on the contents of the report. 

 

LCH/19/22 GREATER MANCHESTER INFRASTRUCTURE FRAMEWORK 

Simon Nokes, Executive Director of Policy and Strategy introduced a report that was  
considered by the GMCA on 11 January 2019 which provided a briefing on the Greater 
Manchester Infrastructure Framework and the establishment of the Greater Manchester 
Strategic Infrastructure Board. 
 
  

Page 7



6 
 

RESOLVED/- 

That the update on the establishment of the Greater Manchester Strategic Infrastructure 
Board, be noted.   
 

LCH/19/23 GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL FRAMEWORK UPDATE 

Members noted that this item was to be deferred to the next meeting of the Low Carbon Hub.  

 

LCH/19/24 ANY OTHER BUISNESS 

 
a) Festival of Nature  
 
Anne Selby reminded members that the Manchester Festival of Nature was taking place at 
the end of June. All members were welcome.  
 
RESOLVED/-  
 
That the update be noted.  
 
LCH/19/25  FUTURE MEETING DATES 
  
RESOLVED/  

 

That it be noted that the next Low Carbon Hub meeting will be held on: 

 

 Friday 19 July 2019, 10.00 – 12.00 at Churchgate House, Oxford Road, Manchester, 

M1 6EU  

 

Page 8



 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER LOW CARBON HUB 
 
Date:   29 July 2019 
 
Subject:  Implementing the GM 5 Year Environment Plan – Mission Based Approach 
 
Report of: Mark Atherton, Assistant Director Environment  
 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
Following approval of the 5 Year Environment Plan in March 2019, an indicative budget of £1m (over 
three years) has been identified to initiate actions which will support its delivery.  The purpose of 
this paper is to provide the Board with an overview of how this indicative budget, from retained 
business rates, may be utilized to deliver a Mission Based Approach to achieving the challenge of 
carbon neutral living within the Greater Manchester economy by 2038.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Board is asked to: 
 

 Note the intention to utilise a Mission Based Approach. 
 

 Note that GMCA has been asked to release £1m from the retained business rates reserve (over 
19/20-21/22) to support the implementation of the 5 Year Environment Plan and delegate 
individual expenditure decisions within this £1m to the GMCA Treasurer, in consultation with 
the Portfolio Leader and Lead Chief Executive for Green City Region, including approval of any 
consequent grants to districts from this money where appropriate. 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Mark Atherton, Assistant Director of Environment, GMCA  

mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 

1) GM 5 Year Environment Plan https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-

branded_3.pdf 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4a

mailto:mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf


 

 
1. Background  

1.1. Following the Greater Manchester Green Summit in March 2019, GMCA agreed the publication 

of the 5 Year Environment Plan for Greater Manchester, detailing what we need to achieve as 

a city region over the next 5 years. 

1.2. The proposal to adopt a Mission Based Approach was set out in the 5 Year Environment Plan 

and subsequently incorporated into the GM Local Industrial Strategy, jointly agreed with 

Government in July 2019.  In essence, the Mission Based Approach requires setting an 

ambitious Mission “Carbon Neutral City Region by 2038” and breaking this down into 

manageable challenges.  Rather than focusing on particular sectors, this approach focused on 

problem specific challenges facing society which will require many different sector’s 

involvement to solve. 

1.3. As part of the city region’s drive to address the challenges outlined within the Plan, a budget of 

£1m (over 3 years) from Business Rates income has been identified to: initiate some of the 

actions required to demonstrate leadership through our own estates, convene collaborative 

action across sectors and promote change activities in commercial and domestic properties and 

communities.  

1.4. It is recognized that £1m is insufficient to deliver all of the actions within the Action Plan 

however, it does provide seedcorn funding which can be used to leverage funds from other 

sources.  Most of the significant expenditure items in the 5 Year Plan are capable of attracting 

match funding from UK public and private funds.  The CA will continue to bid for external 

funding wherever possible, however, the budget provides an opportunity to better plan 

expenditure without being fully reliant on successful funding bids.  

 

2. Proposal 

 

2.1. To address each of the Themes within the 5 Year Environment Plan, it is proposed that the 

challenges which should be tackled initially are: 

2.1.1. Sustainable consumption and production challenge – “more with less”. 

2.1.2. Low Carbon Buildings challenge – reducing emissions through post-meter actions. 

2.1.3. Energy Innovation Challenge – reducing emissions through pre-meter action. 

2.1.4. Natural Capital Challenge – ecosystem services and natural adaptation. 

2.1.5. Communication Challenge – engaging and communicating with all stakeholders. 

Page 10



 

Each of these Challenge Groups will be asked to drive forward action to achieve the targets set 

out in the 5 Year Plan; report upon progress and identify any barriers which need to be 

overcome for further progress to be made towards achieving the overall Mission.  

2.2. In addition, it is proposed that a monthly “5 Year Environment Plan Implementation Forum” is 

established to allow the cross fertilization of ideas between Challenge/Task and Finish Groups.  

This Forum would be open to all and permit the wider engagement of organsiations who may 

have a general interest in progress but not be formally part of delivery. This Forum would 

replace the previous “Green Summit Steering Group” but not be restricted to these 

organsiations. 

2.3. The 5 Year Environment Plan is clear that, to be successful, immediate actions are required to 

decarbonize the city region whilst also looking to support innovation in technologies, finance 

models and social change.  It is proposed that a significant focus is placed on these immediate 

needs in the first two years of delivery.   

2.4. In particular, it is suggested that building capacity to support Local Authorities to accelerate 

their decarbonisation plans is given priority to enable local authorities to demonstrate 

leadership and to bring forward proposals which could potentially generate revenue or save 

costs to authorities.  

2.5. External funding has already been secured for the following activities: 

2.5.1. Carbon literacy training for the public sector. 

2.5.2. Scoping study for the development of the Energy Transition Region concept. 

2.5.3. Research into the use of local taxation as nudge mechanism for energy efficiency. 

2.5.4. Development of the Investment Readiness Fund for nature based solutions. 

2.5.5. Scoping study for the development of a Local Energy Market. 

2.5.6. Warm Homes Funding to support installation of lower carbon heating in fuel poor   

homes. 

 

2.6. Work is already ongoing, utilizing existing funding, to design and undertake due diligence on 

the Energy Innovation Company proposition which will aim to support accelerated deployment 

of energy generation on publically owned lands. Set-up costs for an Energy Innovation Company 

are not included in this paper as it is subject to more detailed design, costing and due diligence. 

Funding bids are also being prepare for the wider delivery of the Local Energy Market and 

Energy Transition Region concepts once developed.   

 

2.7. An indicative budget for the first three years is provided in Annex 01. 

  

Page 11



 

3. Delivery Mechanisms 

 

3.1. The Mission Based Approach is predicated on cross sectoral engagement for solution creation.  

It is envisioned that the Challenge Groups (referenced in 2.1) are supplemented with Task and 

Finish Groups which are given specific task or challenges to solve.  It is envisioned that the 

Challenge Groups will be comprised of the lead person from each of the Task and Finish Groups 

and Chaired by a Green City Region Partnership Board member.  In this way, we will aim to 

deliver a programme of action which ultimately seeks to deliver the Mission (see Annex 02).  

 

3.2. Five Local Authorities (Trafford, Manchester, Salford, Bury and Stockport) have now declared a 

Climate Emergency.  To support these and other GM Authorities to make accelerated progress, 

it is recognised that additional capacity and expertise is required which is made available to 

support Local Authority led priorities for reduction carbon emissions from the public estate. 

 

3.3. Local Authority Directors of Place have been asked to identify a senior officer who could act as 

a single point of contact for GMCA to collaborative with on LA decarbonisation plans. This will 

ensure that each Authority has improved access to shared knowledge and initiatives to support 

their plans. 

 

4. Recommendations 

 
The Board is asked to: 
 

 Note the intention to utilise a Mission Based Approach. 
 

 Note that GMCA has been asked to release £1m from the retained business rates reserve (over 
19/20-21/22) to support the implementation of the 5 Year Environment Plan and delegate 
individual expenditure decisions within this £1m to the GMCA Treasurer, in consultation with 
the Portfolio Leader and Lead Chief Executive for Green City Region, including approval of any 
consequent grants to districts from this money where appropriate. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



 

  

 

 

 

Annex 01 
 

 

          

 Activities Budget (£k) 
GMCA 
TOTAL 

Potential 
Additional 
Income 

Grand 
Total Comment  

    19/20 20/21 21/22          

1 Communications/engagement 15 15 15 45   45 Building momentum and raising awareness  

2 
Capacity building to support LAs & 
bidding 250 150 100 500   500 Potential for revenue generation/cost savings in future  

3 Collective Procurement of PV 100     100 100 0 
Potential to recoup investment from referrals (see 
separate paper)  

4 GM Environment Fund Set-up 15     15   15 Self-financing following set-up  

5 Retrofit Accelerator (linked to 2) 100 100   200   200 Subject to gaining leverage from private sector  

6 Energy Innovation Company (linked to 2) tba tba tba 0 80 80 From existing Oldham held budgets for feasibility/cost study  

7 Additional research and scoping work (tba) 55 45 40 140   140    

                   

  Totals 535 310 155 1000 180 1080    

          

External Bids (Subject to approval)         

8 Bid - Local Energy Market (linked to 6)       0 1300 1300 Subject to successful bid to UKRI (over 2 years)  

9 Bid - Electrification of Heat (linked to 6)       0 900 900 Subject to successful bid to BEIS (over 2 years)  
1
0 Bid - Energy Transition Region       0 230 230 Subject to successful bid to UKRI (over 2 years)  

          

 

 

 

P
age 13



 

 

 

 
 

Annex 02 

P
age 14



 

 

 

 

 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER LOW CARBON HUB BOARD  
 
Date:  29 July 2019 
 
Subject: PERFORMANCE UPDATE – Q1 (Apr-Jun) 
 
Report of: Mark Atherton, Asst Director Environment, GMCA 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

The report provides the usual update on progress of the Low Carbon Hub for the first 
quarter of 2019/20.    

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Board is recommended to: 
 

 Note and comment upon the progress outlined in this report and latest position 
set out in the dashboards attached at Annex 01 (Environment Team 
Performance Overview) and Annex 02 (5 Year Environment Plan 
Performance). 

 Provide any feedback on the format of the two dashboards as a means of 
updating the board on progress, risks and issues.  

 
 
CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Contact Officer:  Mark Atherton, GM Asst. Director of Environment 
   Mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 

 
 

TRACKING/PROCESS [All sections to be completed] 

Does this report relate to a Key Decision, as set out in the 
GMCA Constitution or in the process agreed by the AGMA 
Executive Board 

No 
 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which 
means it should be considered to be 
exempt from call in by the AGMA Scrutiny 
Pool on the grounds of urgency? 

[Please state any reasons here] 

AGMA Commission TfGMC Scrutiny Pool 

15th March 2019 [Date considered at 
TfGMC; if appropriate] 

[Date considered/or to be 
considered  at Scrutiny 
Pool; if appropriate] 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4b



1.0 OVERVIEW OF PROGRESS  
 

The update at Annex 01 (Environment Team Performance Overview) contains a 

summary of key achievements during the last quarter across the areas within the 5 Year 

Environment Plan.  There are a number of key successes to be highlighted which are set 

out below: 

  

Energy supply 

 Launched a GM Whole System Wide Smart Energy Plan, in conjunction with the 

Energy Systems Catapult.  

 Secured approval to launch solar PV offer to GM residents and businesses in 

September (see separate paper). 

 Continued development of proposals to deliver energy efficiency and generation 

on public assets (Energy Innovation Company)  

 Commenced scoping of Energy Transition Region proposals, which will provide 

the platform for energy innovation.  

 Completed Local Energy Market scoping work and commenced development of 

bid for Phase 2. 

 With Big Clean Switch, have achieved 543 household switches in GM, the target 

for 2019 being 1000-5000 

 

Buildings 

 Developed a draft Retrofit Report for consideration by the Board and Combined 

Authority.  

 Engaged consultants in developing the standard for and pathway to zero carbon 

new development, as proposed in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework.  

 Successful consortium bid of city regions, led by UKGBC, to develop proposals for 

city-led retrofit programmes (funded by Climate-KIC).  

 Received a `best large scale project’ award for the Warm Homes Fund project 

under the Northwest Energy Efficiency Awards Scheme 

 

Transport 

 24 Bee Network schemes spread across all 10 GM districts have been granted 

programme entry status by the GMCA.  

 Awareness raising on air pollution included pollution pod artwork installation at 

media city and various events across GM to promote electric vehicles, cargo bikes 

and other sustainable modes of transport. 

 3 GM operators successfully received a total award of £9.6m for new zero 

emissions buses. TfGM was awarded funds for 23 buses. 

 

Sustainable Consumption and Production 

 Refill bottle filling station pilot launched in Bury.  

 Continuing to support PlasticFreeGM campaign.  

 GM Green compostable carrier scheme launched with support from GMCA. 

 Re-tendering of the GM Waste Contract completed and Suez appointed as new 

waste contractor for the GMCA Page 16



Natural Environment 

 GM chosen as one if Defra’s peatland pilots, as part of its overall peat strategy. As 

part of this, Natural Engalnd will advise on developing peatland management and 

restoration targets.  

 Biodiversity net gain and green infrastructure standards continue to be developed 

as part of the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework.  

 Scoping brief developed for commissioning research to design an Investment 

Readiness Fund as part of the Natural Capital Investment Plan.  

 

Resilience and adaptation 

 Launched the IGNITION project – a 2½ year £5m project to develop the financing 

and delivery mechanisms in order to be able to achieve a 10% uplift in green 

infrastructure in GM by 2038. 

 Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment work complete and Level 2 

commissioned June 2019. 

 Action plan for Infrastructure Strategy being developed and resilience is a key 

theme to be considered.  

 

 

3.0 KEY ANTICIPATED ACTION IN THE NEXT QUARTER 

 

3.1 As a priority, the following activities will be delivered in the next Quarter: 

 
Energy supply 

 Complete scoping work for Energy Transition Region  

 Submit bid for Phase 2 of Local Energy Market proposals.  

 Prepare cost options for Leaders to deliver energy generation and efficiency 

(Energy Innovation Company) and carry out soft market testing.  

 Submit proposal for funding to for roll out of Local Area Energy Planning across 

the city-region. 

 
Buildings 

 Publication of the Retrofit Report and taking forward of actions, particularly the 

development of proposals for a Retrofit Challenge Group.  

 Continued development of zero carbon standards and pathway as part of the 

Greater Manchester Spatial Framework proposals.  

 

Transport 

 Award contract for an EV Charging Infrastructure supplier.  

 Continue to raise awareness on air pollution as a health issues and the action 

everyone can take to help tackle it. 

 

Sustainable Consumption and Production 

 Develop and launch SCP/Circular Economy Plan. 

 Proposals for LA Plastic Pact to be submitted to Cexs. 

Page 17



 Continue to support PlasticFreeGM and the bottle refill station pilot in Bury with 3 

more fountains to be installed. 

 

Natural Environment 

 Continue to deliver Natural Capital Investment Plan, utilising EU IGNITION 

project to support identification of investments. 

 Work with Coordinating Beneficiary to seek timely approval of Natural Course 

Phase 3 programme. 

 Support Lancashire Wildlife Trust to expand My Wild City to reach a wider 

audience. 

 Continue to develop Biodiversity Net Gain guidance and green infrastructure 

standards, including views of LPAs. 

 Undertaking further due diligence work with EA/Others on set up of the 

Environment Fund (see separate paper). 

 

Resilience and adaptation 

 Resilience RoadMap to be published setting out a clear approach to resilience 

across GM. 

 Phase 2 Strategic Flood Assessment to be commissioned. 

 

 

 

4.0 IDENTIFIED RISKS AND EMERGING ISSUES 

 

4.1 Officers and sub-groups have identified a number of risks to existing, and 

particularly future, programme delivery.  Mitigation of these risks, as far as 

possible, will be managed by the responsible Accountable Body: 

 

Key risks: 

4.2 The following represent key risks set out in Annex 02 – Environment Team 

Performance Overview.  

 Failure of the 5 Year Environment Plan to achieve a step change in reducing 

carbon emissions. The challenge has been shown by the recent release of 

data for 2017, which saw a 3.7% reduction (against the need for 15% year on 

year reductions).  

 Over the next quarter, we will be developing a dedicated communications plan 

for GM Green City Region to support delivery of the 5 Year Plan.  

 Failure to meet ambitious recycling and waste diversion targets.  

 Failure to deliver the aims of the IGNITION project. This is being managed 

through the governance arrangements in place for the project.  

 

 

Work programme issues: 

In terms of the priorities set out in the 5 Year Plan, the following areas are flagged as 

“red” (see Annex 01 – 5 Year Environment Plan Performance).  

Page 18



 The decarbonisation of GM’s homes through deeper whole-house retrofit. This is 

being mitigated by the publication of a Retrofit Report (next quarter) to set the 

priorities and framework for action and, as part of that, the development of 

proposals for a Retrofit Challenge Group. GM has also joined a consortium, led by 

the UK Green Buildings Council and including West Yorkshire, London and the 

West Midlands and funded by Climate-KIC to develop proposals for city-led 

retrofit.  

 Decarbonising freight transport. This is being mitigated by TfGM assessing and 

developing a roadmap to reduce freight emissions and support model shift, 

increased efficiency and alternative fuels for HGVs. 

 

 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 

The Board are recommended to: 

 

 Note and comment upon the progress outlined in this report and latest position 
set out in the dashboards attached at Annex 01 (Environment Team 
Performance Overview) and Annex 02 (5 Year Environment Plan 
Performance). 

 Provide any feedback on the format of the two dashboards as a means of 
updating the board on progress, risks and issues.  

 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Overall Delivery Confidence

Green
 

Transport

Green

Risk
Post 

Risk
Red Amber

Amber Green

Red Amber

Red Amber

Red Amber

Ref Commentary Ref

5.7 ↑ Green Overall

↔

7 .1 ↔ Green Energy

↔

7.2 ↑ Amber Buildings

↑

7.3 ↑ Green SCP

↔

7.4 ↔ Amber Natural 

Env. ↔

7.5 ↑ Green Climate 

Change ↔

7.6 ↑ Green Transport

↔

80.5 MW of GM accredited renewable heat sources generated in May 2019, up 

from 79.8 MW in Apr 19. 2% progression towards target. Awaiting further data - 

Additional renewable capacity due June 2019.

Awaiting data

Refill pilot launched in Greater Manchester. 7% progression towards re-use 

target (3 per year) . Waste and recycling targets reported annually. Current 

recycling rate (2017/18)  is 47.1% against a target of 55% for 2024.

Awaiting data

Awaiting data

28% of all trips made by cycling/walking in 2017/18 up from 27% in 2015/16. 

Current ratio of journeys made by car vs sustainable modes of transport is 

39/61 against a target of 50/50 for 2040. 2537 plug-in vehicles registered at 

end Mar 18. 5.4% increase from 2016/17. 3 zero emission buses in TfGM fleet 

to-date.

New contract in place. Waste composition will assess feasibility of 

achieving targets. Waste and Resource strategy to be developed. 

Costs

Green

Resources

Amber

Natural Environment

Green

Climate Change

Green

5-Year Environment Plan 

Programme IssuesRisk

Natural Course Phase 3 proposal and budget not approved by EU.

Environment Team Performance Overview

Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) 

Performance

Mitigation Plan

Key Targets (2020)

Have co-produced a pathway for the next 5 years setting out 

actions to achieve an accelerated date for carbon neutrality.

GM CO2 Emissions (kt CO2)

Green

Failure to meet recycling and diversion targets.

Failure to deliver the aims of the IGNITION project and attract private 

investment.

Unable to support the delivery of an Environment Fund.

Regular reporting to LC Programme Group, LC Hub Board and 

WLT.

Further due diligence work is being undertaken with EA/Partners 

on the viability of the Environment Fund.

Energy

Regular reporting to LC Programme Group, LC Hub Board and 

WLT.

Close working with EASME and project monitor to ensure smooth 

transition to phase 3.

Key Risks (Top 5)

Failure of Environment Plan to achieve a step change in carbon 

emissions.

Amber

Individual Work Programme Delivery Confidence

Risk Event

Green

60% recycling of household waste by 2025 and 90% 

diversion from landfill by 2020. Establish a waste to energy 

(biomass) pathway for residual commercial waste.

Ensure the 2040 Transport Strategy – and wider transport 

investment – is fully aligned with our carbon neutral 

ambitions.

Deliver the Urban Pioneer programme as part of Defra’s 25 

year Environment Plan to become an exemplar in managing 

the urban environment.

Continue to reduce harmful emissions from transport sector. 

By 2020 GM to have reduced Co2 emissions to 11mt.

Accelerated deployment of energy generation/efficiency 

technologies.

Develop mechanisms to encourage the retrofit of public, 

commercial and domestic buildings.

Transpor

t

Key Achievements (April 2019 onwards)

Draft retrofit report developed and discussed with stakeholders.

24 Bee Network schemes spread across all 10 GM districts have been granted programme entry status by the GMCA. Awareness raising 

on air pollution included pollution pod artwork installation at media city and various events across GM to promote electric vehicles, cargo 

bikes and other sustainable modes of transport.There are 3 fully electric buses operating on TfGM’s free bus service in Manchester city 

centre. 3 GM operators successfully received a total award of £9.6m for new zero emissions buses. TfGM was awarded funds for 23 

buses

Buildings

Green

Sustainable, Production and 

Consumption

Green

A 5-year SCP plan to be produced by Sep-19. Waste and Resources Strategy to be 

developed following government consultations.

Clear Phase 2 reporting requirements. Work with coordinating beneficiary for timely 

approval of Phase 3 and begin work on actions without large budget spend.  

Continue to support operators and work through issues. Some orders have now been 

placed, however no retrofits have taken place.

Status

Improve our air quality and reduce C02 emissions that are produced by the 

way we, and the goods we use, travel within our city region. 

Green

Further work underway to ensure GM Clear Air Plan can 

achieve 2020 target for performance.

GM now has the first city-region level science based 

target and pathway. Work now underway to deliver and 

monitor actions.

GM has less than 50% of the UK average renewable 

energy installed which outlines the challenges.

On track to achieve 2020 action.

District recycling rate GMWDA 47%. Wigan 48.5%. 

GMWDA landfill diversion at 88.8% (2016/17).

On track to achieve 2020 action.

On track to achieve 2020 action.

Refill bottle filling station pilot launched in Bury. Continuing to support PlasticFreeGM campaign. GM Green compostable carrier scheme 

launched with support from GMCA.Re-tendering of the GM Waste Contract completed and Suez appointed as new waste contractor for 

the GMCA

Launch of Care-Peat NWE INTERREG project. Launch of DEFRA GM Peatland Pilot. Natural England to advise on development of 

peatland management and restoration targets. GM Tree & Woodland Strategy launched. ANGSt standards progressed as part of GMSF. 

Biodiversity Net Gain guidance group to consider appropriate measure and baseline for future monitoring. Investment Readiness Fund 

designed and implemented if feasible.

GMSF policy includes overarching resilience policy. Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment work complete and Level 2 commissioned 

June 2019.Action plan for Infrastructure Strategy being developed and resilience is a key theme to be considered. Specific actions will be 

developed.IGNITION project gone live, received grant funding and will have identified Urban GI baseline and emerging pipelines of natural 

projects for urban adaptation (and potential financing routes).

Key Work Programme Milestones (April - Sept 2019)

Buildings

Phase 2 Strategic Flood Assessment to be commissioned in June 2019.

Develop mission based approach for clean growth 

Award contract for an EV Charging Infrastructure supplier. Tender process 

underway. Discussions with Districts on 24 rapid charger points approaching 

conclusion.

Continue to raise awareness on air pollution as a health issues and the action 

everyone can take to help tackle it.

Work Programme Issues (Top 5)

Issue

Level and depth of retrofit required to meet our overall ambitions is highly 

challenging.

Delay in delivery of GMCA Waste and Resources Strategy.

Delay to start of Natural Course Phase 3 Actions.

Retrofitting of existing buses has been stalled due to contract negotiations 

(Clean Air Plan) and bus reform.

Mitigating Action/sStatus

Red

Amber

Amber

Amber

Focus on retrofit accelerator proposals as way of overcoming these barriers in a 

coordinated way.

Energy

Buildings

SCP

Natural 

Env.

Climate 

Change

Launched Whole System Wide SMART Energy Plan. ENW launched their zero carbon plan at Green Summit, which included future energy 

demand forecasts. 
Natural 

Env.

Submit proposal for funding to Innovate UK for roll out of Local Area Energy 

Planning across the city-region.

Promote economic and resource productivity, eliminate waste and increase 

business opportunities through innovation.

Protect, maintain and enhance our key natural assets (air, land, water and 

biodiversity).

Deliver robust action on climate adaption to protect vulnerable communities, 

our economy, key infrastructure and our natural environment.

Status

Green

Amber

Amber

Amber

Green

Amber

Priorities (2024)

For our city region to be carbon neutral by 2038 and meet carbon budgets 

that comply with international commitments.

Reduce CO2 emissions that are produced by the energy we generate to 

power our buildings, transport and heat - shifting to renewable sources.

Reduce CO2 emissions produced by excessive use of energy particularly 

in heating our homes and commercial and public buildings.

Progression towards targets

GM emissions data for 2017: 12,165 kt CO2, down 469 kt (-3.7%) compared to 

2016 (12,634 kt).  The reduction is slightly lower than that between 2015 and 

2016, when emissions were down 604 kt or -4.6% over the year.

SCP

Climate 

Change

Transport

Develop and launch SCP/Circular Economy Plan.

Proposals for LA Plastic Pact to be submitted to WLT.

Continue to support PlasticFreeGM and the bottle refill station pilot in Bury with 3 

more fountains to be installed.

Energy MMU to lead on the convening of key partners with a view to them leading the 

development of a hydrogen strategy for GM.

Complete scoping work for energy transition region, local energy market and 

local taxation levers .

Prepare cost options for Leaders to deliver renewable energy generation (GM 

Energy Company) and carry our soft market testing.

Retrofit report to be approved by the CA and published in July 2019.

Review DEC and EPC data and map via MappingGM with analysis of key 

headlines provided at GM and District level.

Define purpose and design retrofit accelerator for GM.

Continued delivery of Homes as Energy Systems (HaSE) and Energy House 2.

Review and finalise low carbon policies in GMSF, including net zero carbon 

development.

Deliver Natural Capital Investment Plan, utilising EU IGNITION project to 

support identification and investment.

Work with Coordinating Beneficiary to seek timely approval of Natural Course 

Phase 3 programme.

Support Lancashire Wildlife Trust to expand My Wild City to reach a wider 

audience.

Continue to develop Biodiversity Net Gain guidance including views of LPAs.

Support Lancashire Wildlife Trust to explore the potential to expand My Wild 

City to reach a wider audience. 

Undertaking further due diligence work with EA/Others on the Environment Fund 

and if appropriate set up fund.

Develop dedicated communications plan for GM Green City Region.

Resilience RoadMap to be published setting out a clear approach to resilience 

across GM.

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

20,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ref Measure % Towards target

E1 ↑ Green Additional renewable capacity (MW) Next update June 2019

E2 ↔ Green Additional energy from low carbon heat 

sources (TWh) ONS measured in MW

2%

E3 ↔ Green Additional flexible and diverse load 

available (MW)

TBC

B1 ↔ Red No of whole house retrofits carried out TBC

B2 ↔ Amber Increase in energy certificate ratings D 

or above

TBC

B3 ↔ Green TBD TBC

Reduction in CO2 consumption 

emissions

TBC

Increase in Greater Manchester CA 

GVA (GVA (£ million)

TBC

No of re-usable pilots launched in 

Greater Manchester (3 per year)

7%

Domestic waste production (kg/hh/yr) Reported annually

No of streams of avoidable single-use 

plastic taken out of public estate - TBD

TBC

SCP3 ↔ Amber Yr on Yr increase in recycling rates (%) 86%

SCP4 ↔ Amber Yr on Yr reduction in residual waste 

(kg/hh/year)

Reported annually

Amount of peatland restoration and 

management for carbon sequestration

TBC

No of trees planted TBC

People living within Natural England 

ANGSt Standards

TBC

NE2 ↔ Amber Water bodies enhanced ( per km) TBC

NE3 ↔ Amber TBD TBC

NE4 ↔ Amber Amount of non-public investment TBC

NE5 ↔ Amber Increase in number of people engaged TBC

CC1 ↔ Green No of policies TBC

No of planning permissions granted 

contrary to EA advice on flood risk

TBC

No of hh moved to lower probability 

flood risk

TBC

CC3 ↔ Green Uplift in urban green infrastructure TBC

CC4 ↑ Amber TBC TBC

Ratio of journeys made by car versus 

sustainable modes of transport

Figures expected Sept 2019.

Increase in proportion of all trips made 

by cycling and walking (%)

28% of all trips (2017/18) up from 

27% in 2015/16.

No of plug-in vehicles registered 

licensed in GM (Source: DfT vehicle 

statistics)

2537 vehicles registered at end Mar 

18. 5.4% increase from 2016/17.

Increase in No of rapid charge points 

installed (GMEV network)

TBC

T3 ↑ Green TBC TBC

↔ No of new zero emissions buses 

entering the fleet

Currently 3 in the TfGM fleet. 

Awarded funds for 23 more.

Proportion of total bus fleet that are 

zero emissions

TBC

T5 ↔ Red Delivery of freight roadmap N/A

5-Yr Environment Plan Performance

5-Year Environment Plan Priorities

Key Priorities (2024) Status Commentary

Increase local renewable energy (electricity) generation, adding at 

least a further 45MW by 2024.

Work is on-going with Electricity North West (ENWL) to assess how the future energy demand can be met from local renewable sources. 

Proposals are being developed for an investment vehicle to deliver renewable energy generation (GM Energy Company). GMCA and LAs are 

examining the potential to establish collective solar PV/battery purchase - ICHOOSR.

Decarbonise how we heat buildings, adding at least a further 10TWh 

of low carbon heating by 2024.

GMCA and LAs are seeking funding to roll out Local Area Energy planning across the city region and are consulting on proposals to identify 

'Heat and Energy Network Opportunity Areas'. MMU is leading on the development of a Hydrogen Strategy.

Increasing the diversity and flexibility of our electricity supply, adding 

at least a further 45MW of diverse and flexible load by 2024.

ENWL continuing to work with stakeholders and national bodies to develop the technical and regulatory framework to transition to a 'Smart 

Grid'. 

Reduce the heat demand from existing homes with retrofit measures 

installed at 50,000 homes per year.

GMCA and LAs to convene partners and develop a Greater Manchester retrofit partnership/accelerator.

Reduce the heat demand from existing commercial and public 

buildings with a 10% reduction by 2025.

GMCA and LAs to standardise measures of reporting on efficiency of buildings and aim to obtain a DEC rating of D or better by 2024 for their 

public buildings.

Reduce the heat demand in new buildings. In support of this plan, GMHPs have committed to building all new homes to zero carbon in advance of 2028 target as set out in GMSF.

SCP2 Becoming more responsible consumers - limiting any increase in 

waste to 20%.
↔ Green GMCA is developing a Plastic Pact for the Public Sector and a roadmap to increase understanding of sustainable alternatives and reduce 

usage of avoidable single-use plastics. 

SCP1 Producing goods and services more sustainably, moving to a circular 

economy.38% reduction in industrial emission by 2025.
↔ Green Currently supporting RE3 UoM Project on Re-thinking Resources and Recycling and MMU Circular Economy Club. An SCP plan is in currently in 

development to be launched in September 2019. Refill campaign launched in Tameside, Bolton, Manchester, Bury. 

Managing our waste as sustainably as possible to achieve a recycling 

rate, 55% by 2024, and 65% by 2035.

For 2017/18: District recycling rate 49%, GMCA (inc HWRC) 47%. Wigan 48.5%. Awaiting verified figures for 2018/19. Qtr 1 - 3 show 

recycling rate of 48.6%. A Zero Waste Strategy will be developed in 2020 following the outcomes of current government consultations.

Reduce unnecessary food waste. Supporting Good Food Board in producing a roadmap by 2020 on future food strategy. Currently approx. over 30% of waste in domestic 

residual stream is food waste. 

NE1 Managing our land sustainably, including planting 1m trees by 2024. ↔ Green City of Trees targeted to plant 3 million trees in GM over next 25 years and will continue to develop GM Tree and Woodland strategy. GMCA 

and LAs to embed natural capital approach into strategy and planning development and support peatland restoration approaches.

Managing our water and its environment sustainably. Continue to work with United Utilities (UU) and Environment Agency (EA)  to implement  planned improvements to improve river water quality 

and deliver the benefits of the Water Company Investment Programme across 4 GM catchment areas.

Achieving a net gain in biodiversity for new development. GMCA and LAs to support the delivery of biodiversity net gain through the GMSF.

Increasing investment into our natural environment. GMCA supporting the development of a GM Environment fund and implementation of Natural Capital Investment Plan. Through the IGNITION 

project GMCA and LAs will establish and deliver increased investment in nature-based adaption solutions including the design of an Investment 

Readiness Fund.

Increasing our engagement with our natural environment. GMCA working with a number of partners including EA, GMHSCP, Lancashire Wildlife Trust, Royal Horticultural Society and City of Trees to 

increase engagement and explore opportunities for a more integrated natural capital stakeholder engagement programme. 

Embedding climate change resilience and adaptation in all policies. GMCA to develop a Resilience Strategy and roadmap in 2019. GMCA and LAs to undertake a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and 

implement a policy framework to manage the flood risk through GMSF.

CC2 Increase the resilience of and investment in our critical infrastructure. ↑ Green Through the GM Infrastructure Framework, there is a commitment that other infrastructure providers will support the resilience strategy.

T1 By 2040 increase the use of public transport and active travel modes 

to support a reduction in car use to no more than 50% of daily trips 

made by Greater Manchester residents with the remaining 50% made 

by public transport, walking and cycling.

↔ Green Districts are working towards approval of business cases to transform cycling and walking infrastructure through the Mayor's Challenge fund for 

walking and cycling. £160m will be invested between 2018/19 and 2021/22 over two tranches. Ratio is 39/61% for the period 2014-16. 

Expecting a TRADS update in next few months.

Tackle the most polluting vehicles on the road. TfGM secured £1.8m ULEV Taxi Fund grant award for potential delivery of 80 dual headed rapid chargers.

Implement a prioritised programme of nature-based climate 

adaptation action.

The IGNITION project will establish a programme of innovative funding mechanisms to deliver increased investment in nature-based adaption 

solutions.

Improve monitoring and reporting. As part of the IGNITION project and Resilience Strategy GMCA and LAS will consider development of appropriate indicators to monitor and 

evaluate how prepared we are for future impacts of climate change. Whilst IGNITION will work on baseline and appropriate urban adaptation 

uplift targets (i.e. 10% increase in urban GI) this is in development and is only part of the indicators and involves only some of the 

issues/stakeholders in discussion.  as a result no formal set process for developing or measuring the indicator set or timeframe exists beyond 

commitments to look at parts of this via relevant projects, Amber status is advised

T2 Phase out of fossil-fuelled private vehicles and replace them with zero 

emission (tailpipe) alternatives and implement a charging 

infrastructure to support expansion of 200,000 EV vehicles in our city-

region by 2024. 

↔ Green GMCA, LA and TfGM to expand and promote city region's EV charging network with 48 new rapid charging points to be installed. No official 

way to track progress. Exploring potential to use ZAP MAP.

T4 Establish a zero emissions free bus fleet. 100% of all buses are zero 

emissions (tailpipe) by 2035.

Green TfGM successfully awarded a £3.5m ULEV Bus Fund grant from OLEV, to support electrification of 23 buses and inclusive of £1.89m for 

charging infrastructure to support. 

Decarbonising freight transport and shifting freight to rail and water 

transport.

GMCA, LAs and TfGM to assess and develop a roadmap to reduce freight emissions and support model shift, increased efficiency and 

alternative fuels fro HGVs.

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
GREATER MANCHESTER LOW CARBON HUB BOARD 

 

Date:   29 July 2019 
 
Subject: GOVERNANCE CHANGES AND TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
Report of: Mark Atherton, GM Environment Team 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
Delivery of the Mission Based Approach will require a number of changes to the existing 
governance structures and consequent changes to Terms of Reference.   This paper 
outlines the proposed changes to Governance and Terms of reference required to begin 
delivery of the 5 Year Environment Plan. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Board is requested to: 

a) Note the proposed transition from “Low Carbon Hub Board” to “Green City Region 
Partnership” and approve the revised Terms of Reference for the Partnership for 
the 2019/20 municipal year. 

b) Comment on the proposed Governance Structure for the Mission based Approach 
(see paper 04-1 Annex 02) 

c) Agree Partnership Board Members to chair and deputy the proposed Challenge 
Groups and agree to establish these groups over the next Quarter, where they do 
not already exist. 

d) Approve the revised Terms of Reference for the Natural Capital Group for the 
2019/20 municipal year and confirm Anne Selby as Chair and Chris Matthews as 
Vice Chair 

e) Agree that similar Terms of Reference should be developed for the other 
proposed Challenge Groups: SCP, Low Carbon Buildings, Energy Innovation and 
Communications for agreement at the next Board/Partnership meeting.  
 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 
 
Email: mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk, GM Environment Team 
Tel: 07834 174132 
 

 

Background Papers 

Annex 1 – Terms of Reference for the Green City Region Partnership 
Annex 2 – Terms of Reference for the Natural Capital Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4c

mailto:mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 
 

Annex 01  
 
GREEN CITY REGION PARTNERSHIP: TERMS OF REFERENCE 2019/20 
 
1.        PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of the GM Green City Region Partnership is to provide strategic oversight of the 
delivery of the Greater Manchester 5 Year Environment Plan through a Mission Based 
Approach. In essence, the Mission Based Approach requires setting an ambitious 
Mission “Carbon Neutral City Region by 2038” and breaking this down into manageable 
challenges.  Rather than focusing on particular sectors, this approach focused on 
problem specific challenges facing society which will require many different sector’s 
involvement to solve. 

 
The Partnership is responsible, on behalf of the GMCA, for overseeing the monitoring and 
delivery arrangements for the 5 Year Environment Plan, as part of Priority 7 `Green City 
Region’ of the Greater Manchester Strategy. The Partnership will oversee delivery via a 
number of Challenge Groups, identifying individual tasks (task and finish groups), synergies 
and gaps, then provision of appropriate advice to GMCA on mitigation measures, including 
the development and delivery of future policies and strategies. 

 
2.        TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
The Green City Region Partnership will: 

 
 Work with partners to ensure that Greater Manchester can achieve the vision and 

objectives of the 5 Year Environment Plan, including the achievement of our longer term 
target of carbon neutrality by 2038.  

 On behalf of GMCA and AGMA, oversee the development and implementation of delivery 
programmes which contribute to achievement of GM priorities articulated in the 5 Year 
Environment Plan. 

 Ensure that activities being undertaken are in line with local and national priorities. 
 Ensure that there is a robust evidence base for decision-making. 
 Regularly evaluate performance against GM targets and priorities and support the 

identification of risks and opportunities. 
 Ensure that the work and investments of the Green City Region Partnership is integrated 

with and contributes to broader GM priorities, communicating regularly with other GM 
commissions and Board (eg. Planning and Housing Commission, Transport, Waste, 
Infrastructure Committees and Local Enterprise Partnership). 

 Influence local, national and international policies, legislation and programmes in order to 
deliver a secure, low carbon future for Greater Manchester. 

 Broker agreement at strategic level to resolve apparent barriers to delivery. 
 Identify potential resources and provide a strategic overview to ensure that all available 

resources are utilised to enable the city region to deliver its ambitious vision for carbon 
neutrality by 2038. 

 Actively engage with the ten districts and other Greater Manchester Authorities to act as a 
conduit for the sharing and adoption of good practices. 

 Identify and undertake communication activities to engage with Greater Manchester 
stakeholders and communities on the 5 Year Environment Plan, acting within the scope 
of the AGMA/GMCA Communications Strategy. 

Page 26



 

 

3.      MEMBERSHIP 
 
The list below describes those roles relevant for membership of the Green City Region 
Partnership: 

 

 
Membership of the Low Carbon Hub Board for 2019/20 
 

Councillor Andrew Western 
(Trafford) 

Portfolio Holder & Chair  

To be confirmed Portfolio Assistant  

To be confirmed Portfolio Assistant  

Eamonn Boylan Lead Chief Executive 

Councillor Angeliki Stogia Transport Committee Representative 

Councillor Alan Quinn Waste & Recycling Committee Representative 

To be confirmed Planning and Housing Commission  

To be confirmed Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Representative 

Roger Milburn Strategic Infrastructure Board  

Anne Selby (Wildlife Trust) /  
Chris Matthews (UU) 

Natural Capital Challenge  
(Local Nature Partnership Representative) 

To be agreed Low Carbon Buildings Challenge 

To be agreed Energy Innovation Challenge 

To be agreed Sustainable Consumption and Production Challenge 

To be agreed Communications Challenge 

Lee Rawlinson (EA) Environment Agency Representative 

H Elkadi (Salford) 
Nalin Thakkar (Manchester) 
Tba (Manchester Metropolitan) 

GM Universities Representatives 

Louise Blythe (BBC) 
Mark Pilling (Siemens) 
Peter Emery (ENWL) 
Richard Jenkins (Suez) 
Phil Korbel (Cooler Projects) 
Robin Lawler (Northwards Housing) 

Private Sector Representatives – Energy, Built 
Environment, Housing, SCP/Waste, Training/Skills, 
Environment Technologies sector, Communications 

Patrick Allcorn (BEIS) 
Kristina Poole (PHE) 
Tba (Homes England) 

Central Government Representatives 

Simon Nokes (GMCA) 
Mark Atherton (GMCA) 
Simon Warburton (TfGM) 
Megan Black (TfGM) 

Lead Policy Organisation Representatives 

 
Elected members will be nominated to the Green City Region Partnership on an annual 
basis as part of the GMCA nominations process across the ten Greater Manchester local 
authorities. Other members of the Board will serve for a fixed term of 3 years, appointed on 
a staggered basis during a 12 month period to ensure that not all memberships are 
reviewed at the same point. 
 

Page 27



 

 

4         OPERATING PRINCIPLES 
 
4.1      Meetings 

 
The Partnership will meet on a quarterly basis.  Meeting dates will be set one year in 
advance, following the annual meeting. The annual meeting of the Board will 
normally be held in July each year. 

The Partnership will be accountable to GMCA and AGMA. The Partnership will not make 

decisions, financial or otherwise, that require GMCA/AGMA approval, but will refer and 

make recommendations to AGMA and GMCA as appropriate.  

Meetings will be held in public and non-confidential papers will be published on the 
GMCA website in advance. Papers will be issued five working days before meetings, and 
a meeting note will be issued within two weeks of the meeting date.  The GMCA 
constitution describes the criteria which an item must meet in order for it to be considered 
in private.  Reports which meet those confidentiality or exemption criteria will be 
considered in a Part B section of the meeting which excludes the public, as permitted 
under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
The Partnership will commission Challenge Groups to undertake the specific activities on 
behalf of the Partnership. The Challenge Groups will be Chaired/Deputy Chaired by 
Partnership Board members.  To address each of the Themes within the 5 Year 
Environment Plan, it is proposed that the challenges which should be tackled initially are: 
 

 Sustainable consumption and production Challenge – “more with less”. 

 Low Carbon Buildings Challenge – reducing emissions through post-meter actions. 

 Energy Innovation Challenge – reducing emissions through pre-meter action. 

 Natural Capital Challenge – ecosystem services and natural adaptation. 

 Communication Challenge – engaging and communicating with all stakeholders. 
 

The Terms of Reference for these Challenge Groups will be devised by each Group and 
agreed by the Partnership Board.  An example of Terms of Reference for the Natural Capital 
Group is attached at Annex 02.  
 
Each of these Challenge Groups will be asked to drive forward action to achieve the targets 
set out in the 5 Year Plan; report upon progress and identify any barriers which need to be 
overcome for further progress to be made towards achieving the overall Mission.  The 
Challenge Groups will establish Task and Finish Groups as required to undertake specific 
activities.  
 
In addition, it is proposed that a monthly “5 Year Environment Plan Implementation Forum” is 
established to allow the cross fertilization of ideas between Challenge/Task and Finish 
Groups.  This Forum would be open to all and permit the wider engagement of organsiations 
who may have a general interest in progress but not be formally part of delivery. This Forum 
will replace the previous “Green Summit Steering Group” but membership will not be 
restricted to these organsiations. 
 

4.2      Support Arrangements 
 
The Partnership will be supported by: the Assistant Director of Environment (GMCA), the 
GM Environment Team and appropriate TfGM (Air Quality) and Manchester Growth Hub 
(Sector Development) officers. Democratic support will be provided by GMCA Governance 
and Scrutiny Team.   
 

Page 28



 

 

5.        ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
5.1      Lead portfolio holder and Chair of the Board 

 
As set out in the Greater Manchester Strategy, portfolio leads will own and lead 
the development of the GM response to those strategic priorities that fall within 
their remit. 

 
The portfolio lead for Green City Region will: 
 

 Chair the Green City Region Partnership. 

 Provide strategic direction for GM’s Green City Region approach. 

 Maintain oversight of key programmes within the portfolio. 

 Ensure alignment between Green City Region policies and programmes and broader 
GM priorities. 

 With the Lead Chief Executive, agree the agenda and papers for each meeting. 

 Provide strategic input and direction to GM and national leadership. 
    Represent the P a r t n e r s h i p  i n high profile discussions, events and activities 

at GM level and beyond. 
 Represent the Partnership in engagement with GMCA and the LEP. 

 
5.2      Board Members 

 
  It is expected that Board Members will: 
 

 Regularly attend and contribute to meetings. 

 Thoroughly review papers and inform the work of the Partnership. 

 If appropriate, Chair or Deputy Chair one of the Challenge Groups and regularly 
report on progress to the Partnership Board. 

 Individually lead specific programmes that contribute to strategic objectives 
where appropriate. 

 Actively identify and advise upon the adoption of good practices. 
 Act as a conduit to and represent on the Partnership Board, the organisation 

and/or professional field they come from. 
 Ensure that they maintain full accountability and transparency to the Partnership 

on any activities carried out on behalf of the Partnership. 
 Ensure that any comment or activity undertaken in their capacity as a 

Partnership Board member is aligned with and endorsed by the Board. 
 Support and enable communication with wider stakeholders about the work of the 

Partnership, acting as advocates for the Partnership’s work. 
 

 
 

5.3      Supporting officers 
 
To co-ordinate activity across the programme, the Lead Chief Executive, or 
suitable deputy, will Chair a Low Carbon Programme Executive Group.  
 
Supporting Officers will: 
 

 Provide regular briefings to the Portfolio Lead, Lead Chief Executive and 
Partnership Board on the Green City Region work programme.  

 Provide relevant and timely information and reports to the Partnership 
Board to enable the Partnership to provide timely advice and support to 
GMCA/AGMA. 

Page 29



 

 

 Provide updates to Board members as requested on relevant programmes 
of work. 

 
 

 

 

Page 30



 

 

Annex 02 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER NATURAL CAPITAL GROUP 

DRAFT TERMS OF REFERENCE 

JUNE 2019 

1. PURPOSE/PROMISE 

 

Our purpose is to ensure that nature and the services it provides are protected and 

enhanced to deliver value to communities across Greater Manchester.  

2. VISION 

 

To put nature at the heart of everything we do.  

3. GOALS 

 

By 2024 we aim to: 

• implement biodiversity net gain approach in our planning system. 

• adopt environmental net gain approach in our planning system.  

• increase, year on year, non-public funding in our natural environment.  

• significantly increase the amount of trees and restored peatland across GM.  

• embed natural capital approaches into our investments and decision making.  

• increase engagement of people with their natural environment. 

• Adopt plans for a GM ‘nature recovery network’. 

 

How (NCG priorities) 

1. Manage our land sustainably, including planting 1 million trees by 2024 – creating rich 
habitat, in good condition for wildlife, delivering partnership projects at a landscape 
scale. 

2. Managing our water and its environment sustainably – enhancing water quality and 
reducing the risk of flooding. 

3. Achieving a net gain in biodiversity for new development – embedding the natural 
environment in decision making and championing the wider benefits to society this 
brings, such as improving health and wellbeing. 

4. Increasing investment into our natural environment – a good deal for nature by working 
with national and local government and the private sector. 

5. Increasing our engagement with our natural environment – more people and businesses 
inspired by, and taking action for, wildlife, with more people visiting local green spaces 

6. Embracing natural capital approaches to deliver environmental enhancements such as 
greater carbon sequestration and biodiversity net gain. 

7. Develop the means to measure the social value of GM’s environment, drawing on 
measures such as health and wellbeing benefits for the population and nature and 
greenspace indicators.   

Page 31



 

 

 
4. TARGETS 

 

 Amount of peatland restoration and management for carbon restoration. 

 No of trees planted. 

 People living within Natural England ANGSt Standards. 

 Water bodies enhanced (per km). 

 Net gain in biodiversity (to be further informed by national policy and local Natural 

England Guidance) from an agreed baseline.  

 % of SSSI favourable condition. 

 Amount of non-public investment - no. of projects with greater than x% of non-public 

funding in implementing the Natural Capital Investment Plan.  

 Increase in number of people engaged - halve the gap between the national average 

of people who have visited the natural environment in the past 7 days / level of 

engagement of people with the natural environment (MENE).  

 

5. DELIVERY 

 

The Natural Capital Group will define a Business Plan each year and agree this with the 

Chair of the GM Low Carbon Hub Board. Key actions and activities will be informed by the 

Greater Manchester 5 Year Environment Plan (see Appendix 1): 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/  

The Natural Capital Group will make decisions within the scope of the agreed Business Plan.  

Decisions outside of the scope of the Business Plan and recommendations to the Combined 

Authority will be referred via the GM Green City Region Partnership Board. 

The Natural Capital Group is charged with obtaining additional resources and funds to carry 

out the activities identified in the Natural Capital Group Business plan.  

Priority outputs required from the GM Green City Region Partnership will be provided by the 

Natural Capital Group and drawn from the Natural Capital Group Business Plan. 

6. MEMBERSHIP 

 

The Natural Capital Group will comprise a Chair and Vice Chair plus appropriate members 

from the public/private/voluntary sectors of GM.  The number of members will be deemed as 

appropriate by the Chair and Vice Chair.  Group members may be asked, at the discretion of 

the Chair, to assume responsibility for certain portfolios or Task and Finish Groups, covering 

specific aspects of the natural environment, geographical locations, projects or initiatives, or 

oversight of Partnership resources.   

 

The Chair will be appointed by the Chair of the GM Green City Region Partnership on behalf 

of the Combined Authority. 

 

Chair: Anne Selby, The Wildlife Trust for Lancashire, Manchester and North Merseyside, 

aselby@lancswt.org.uk.  

 

Page 32

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/
mailto:aselby@lancswt.org.uk


 

 

 

Vice Chair: Chris Matthews, United Utilities, Chris.Matthews@uuplc.co.uk  

 

Members: See Appendix 2. Group membership will include representation from the GM Low 

Carbon Hub. 

 

7. OPERATING PRINCIPLES 

 

7.1 Governance 

 

No business will be transacted unless four Natural Capital Group members are present.  

Decisions will largely be reached by consensus, by 2/3 majority vote or where appropriate 

under Chair's authority, etc. 

 

7.2 Meeting frequency 

 

The Group will meet quarterly for 2-3 hours, with meeting dates arranged for a full financial 

year to align with the Low Carbon Hub Board meeting dates.   

Where-ever practical, papers will be issued five working days before meetings, and the 

meeting note will be issued within two weeks of the meeting date. 

The Greater Manchester Forest Partnership will report minutes from their meeting back to 

the Natural Capital Group as a standing item.   

At the discretion of the Group, more frequent Task and Finish meetings may be held if 

required i.e. Urban Pioneer Delivery Group.  

7.3 Support arrangements 

 

The Group will be assigned a lead officer from the Greater Manchester Environment Team 

to provide co-ordination and facilitation for the meetings.   

7.4 Roles and responsibilities 

 

Chair  

 Agree agenda and papers and Chair meetings. 

 Report back to the Low Carbon Hub Board and represent the views of the Group at 

Low Carbon Hub Board meetings. 

 Champion the role and views of the Group to external audience. 

 

Members 

 Regularly attend and contribute to meetings. 

 Thoroughly review and inform the work of the Group. 

 Individually lead specific responsibilities and work programme activities. 

 Report progress against priorities they are responsible for. 

 

Page 33

mailto:Chris.Matthews@uuplc.co.uk


 

 

GM Environment Team  

 Arrange secretariat support to the meetings. 

 Co-ordinate and facilitate the development and implementation of the work 

programme. 

 Review and contribute to proposed papers. 

 Provide the operational interface between the other LCH themes. 

 Work with the Group members to support the implementation of actions. 

 

Governance & Scrutiny Team 

 Provide equipment, materials, rooms and a secretariat service to the Board. 

 

8. RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER GROUPS 

9.  

The Natural Capital Group is a Challenge Group of the Green City Region Partnership. 

The Group will establish relationships and a working protocol with other Challenge 

Groups on the following principles: 

 The Chair of the Natural Capital Group is a Green City Region Partnership Board 

member. 

 

 The Natural Capital Group will set out how it expects the relationship to work with 

each group to be clear about how it thinks it can achieved its aims and objectives.  It 

is expected this will evolve over time.  

Page 34



 

 

Appendix 1: Relevant Actions from the Greater Manchester 5 Year Environment Plan 

P
age 35



 

 

Appendix 2: Current Membership List 

 
 

Chair  

Anne Selby     The Wildlife Trust for Lancashire, Manchester 
and North Merseyside 

Vice Chair  

Chris Matthews United Utilities 

  

Name     Company 

Councillor Derek Antrobus  Salford City Council 

Mark Atherton GM Environment Team 

Krista Patrick  GM Environment Team 

Mark Turner GM Environment Team 

Jenny Hollamby GMCA Governance & Scrutiny 

Jeremy Carter  University of Manchester 

Jackie Copley CPRE Lancashire 

Matthew Ellis Environment Agency 

Barnaby Fryer Cooperative Group 

Alison Gordon New Economy 

David Hodcroft GMCA Planning and Housing Team 

Anne Morgan GMCA Planning and Housing Team 

Dave Bell  Natural England 

Colin Binnie Forestry Commission 

Darryl Quantz GM Health and Social Care Partnership 

Will Horsfall Salford City Council 

Jessica Thompson  City of Trees 

Philip James The University of Salford 

Kathy Oldham AGMA Civil Contingencies and Resilience Unit 

Gillian Renshaw Canal and River Trust 

Derek Richardson GMEU 

Bev Taylor  Bruntwood 

Jo Holden Peel 

Nicola Martin Groundwork 

Anna da Silva RHS Bridgewater 

Helen Telfer  Environment Agency 

Adam Booth Environment Agency 

Mark Easedale Environment Agency 

 
Substitutes 
 

Peter Bradshaw AGMA Civil Contingencies and Resilience Unit 

 

 
 

 

Page 36



 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER LOW CARBON HUB BOARD 
 
Date:   29th July 2019 
 
Subject:  Solar PV collective Purchasing pilot for GM 
 
Report of: Mark Atherton, Asst Director Environment  
 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The purpose of this paper is to present an opportunity for a Solar PV Collective Purchasing pilot 

across the 10 districts of Greater Manchester. This proposal aims to support GM’s achievement of 

the Green Summit aspiration for the City Region to be carbon neutral by 2038, through the increased 

uptake of local renewable generation.  This proposal will complete one of the 5 Year Environment 

Plan actions to: “examine the potential to establish a GM collective solar PV/battery purchase to 

drive up residential uptake”.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The Board is asked to: 
 

 Note the contents of the paper and its recommendations    

 Note that contractual requirements are being finalized and that the GMCA had been asked 

to delegate approval to GMCA Treasurer, in consultation with the Portfolio Lead, to proceed 

with the appointment of a Solar PV Collective Purchasing partner, commencing with the 

pilot in September 19 

 Advise how Board Member partner organisations could support the delivery of the roll-out 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Mark Atherton, Assistant Director of Environment, GMCA  

mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

 
 
 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5

mailto:mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


 

 
1. Background  

1.1. The GM Green Summit, held in March 2019, provided further detail on Greater Manchester’s 

aspiration to be carbon neutral by 2038, meeting the challenge of climate change and 

supporting the transition to a smarter and cleaner future whole energy system. 

1.2. One of the Green Summit outcomes, was the launch of the 5yr Environment Plan for Greater 

Manchester, detailing what we need to do as a region over the next 5 years. Priority 1 under 

‘Our Energy Supply’ stated the need to increase ‘local renewable generation by adding at least 

a further 45MW by 2024’. 

1.3. As part of the region’s drive to meet the challenge outlined within the Plan, a range of 

approaches are required, including leadership through our own estates, commercial, industrial 

and domestic properties. This proposal aims to target the domestic and small businesses `able 

to pay’ market through a collective purchasing, reverse auction.  

1.4. As of 2018, only 2.5% of Greater Manchester’s housing stock had solar PV, which highlights 

there is opportunity for greater uptake, and a key role for the GMCA and the District Councils 

to support this.  

1.5. A Solar PV (photovoltaic) collective purchasing scheme would test the extent that a reverse 

auction approach can increase domestic rooftop solar installations across the region, currently 

62% lower per household than the England average. 

1.6. Identical reverse solar PV auction schemes have been undertaken in Norfolk, Greater London 

Authority and Sussex, administered by iChoosr (a specialist procurement company).These 

schemes benefited from local authority backing providing residents reassurances, which played 

significant part in their decision to participate. Overall, IChoosr have run 30 schemes over 3 

countries resulting in 50,000 installations totaling 175MW of generation with a retail value in 

excess of £200m. 

1.7. These schemes have achieved average cost reductions for residents of between 16-35%, for 

typical 3.5kWh installations, versus open market purchases. 

 

2. Proposal 

2.1. It is proposed that GMCA participate in the forthcoming iChoosr scheme planned for September 

2019, across the 10 districts. This would provide the city region with the opportunity to increase 

our renewable generation by circa 5MW (towards our 45MW target), through a private 

investment of circa £6.7m.  The timing proposed is to align with the next IChoosr scheme, which 

will run across a minimum of 3 UK regions. 

2.2. GMCA would be required to invest circa £100,000 to cover marketing and communication costs, 

however, there is the potential to recoup this initial investment through referral fees for each 

successful installation.  The aim of the scheme would be to achieve at least 1900 installs, leading 

Page 38



 

to the generation of circa £115,000 income from referral fees. If this level of success is achieved, 

the scheme could be cost neutral.  

2.3. The £100k will be used to fund direct marketing to households and businesses, either via each 

individual Local Authority (paid for by the project) and/or via a centalised coordinated 

approach.  The `ask’ of participating authorities would therefore be that they support the 

marketing of the scheme to their residents.  

2.4. The marketing of the scheme may include: direct mail, local adverts/articles, press releases, 

social media and venue information sessions.  It is estimated that this will involve between 30-

60 hours of LA officer time (per District).  For those Districts that wish to participate (the 

preferred option) the cost of time and materials will be funded by the project and allow the 

District to co-brand the initiative.  This will be supplemented by a centralized marketing 

campaign to cover the whole of GM.  

2.5. The scheme provides the ability to support a range of ‘able to pay’ participants including 

domestic residents and small business owners, up to 30 panel installations. 

2.6. As part of the scheme, the option to support further deployment of solar PV across smaller 

public buildings and ALMO/RSL stock provides the opportunity to de-risk the required 

investment highlighted in point 2.1.  

2.7. Further detail explaining the reverse auction, the proposition to the householder, how the 

scheme works and the commitment of the Local Authorities can be found in Annex 01 – 

Domestic Solar PV Collective Purchasing Scheme. 

2.8. All of the suppliers' costs including (but not limited to) the system, cabling, installation & 

scaffolding are included in the bid, yet individual designs are bespoke. Due to the volume, small 

differences in pricing for this are omitted. This means for example that residents will pay the 

same if their panels are installed portrait or landscape, or if they need 5 or 10 meters of DC 

cable. For cost elements that have more impact, such as non-standard scaffolding, an extra cost 

is defined and communicated with the customer. These costs are subject to survey. Customers 

are never obligated to accept changes to their offer that result in higher costs. 

3. Single source supplier justification 

 

3.1. It is proposed we explore the contractual arrangements with iChoosr, with the intention of 

awarding a contract to act as the partner for a collective solar purchasing scheme in Greater 

Manchester. Although there are many different solar PV panel suppliers operating in GM and 

the UK, the services iChoosr provide, as a procurement aggregator, are distinctly different to 

those of a PV supplier. 

 

Page 39



 

3.2. There is currently no other company delivering the services required to support a region wide 

solar PV community purchasing scheme, iChoosr is the only realistic source of supplying these 

services. 

 
3.3. iChoosr have been operating and running solar PV schemes for over several years, across 

Belgium, Netherlands and the UK, with approximately 40,000 households taking up the offer 

leading to an installed capacity in excess of 120MW.  

 
3.4. iChoosr will be paid a small fee per installed PV panel, paid for by the selected solar PV provider, 

which will agreed by iChoosr and be same for all participating providers who participate in the 

reverse auction, so that there will be no preferential treatment.  

 
3.5. It is acknowledged that where the expected contract for services is between £10,000 and 

£50,000, the service required should be procured competitively. However, an exception from 
this requirement may be approved where there is an absence of direct competition. GMCA 
will not pay IChoosr nor spend directly with IChoosr as they gain their payments via charges to 
the supply chain providers.  

 
3.6. Numerous energy related workshops have been completed over the past 12 months, exploring 

different ways to stimulate the market. No other viable alternatives have been found. 

 
3.7. The contract with iChoosr is proposed to be a service concession (co-branded by the 

participating district and GMCA), meaning:  

 That the GMCA will allow iChoosr to exploit the services commercially  

 That iChoosr assumes the entire commercial risk of the arrangement (they must continue 
to provide the services fully in accordance with the contract even if they are making a loss) 
 

3.8  Customers that have complaints or queries can contact iChoosr via a freephone number or 
email provided in the scheme. They manage resolution of the issues. If a customer approaches 
the council, the council would hand over the complaint to iChoosr. The contract iChoosr has 
with installer obligates the installer to rectify them.  For the customer, the resolution is 
guaranteed through warranties. iChoosr demands a minimum set of warranties that have to 
be offered by the participating suppliers and the manufacturers. 

 

 

4 Recommendations 

 

       The Combined Authority is asked to: 

 Note the contents of the paper and its recommendations    

 Provide approval to explore the contractual requirements supporting this proposal and 
agree an allocation of £100k from funds set aside to support delivery of the GM 5 Year 
Environment plan. 

 Subject to legal advice, delegate approval to Chief Executive/Head of Legal, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Lead, to proceed with the appointment of a Solar PV Collective 
Purchasing partner, commencing with the pilot in September 19.  

Page 40



Introduction to the 
scheme model

31st May 2019

Solar Together 
Manchester

P
age 41



Started in NL in 2012
Launched Belgium in 2014
Launched UK in 2015 and paused

Relaunched in UK in 2018 with the GLA (2 
schemes) and Essex, Suffolk and Norfolk

30 schemes
50K installations contracted
175 MW
Retail value: 200+ million

Customer satisfaction above 8 (out of 10)
Proven solar acceleration in region with schemes.
Exponential effects due to contagious nature of solar panels.

History of Solar schemes

P
age 42



Customer proposition

A resident indicates & ultimately accepts a 
turn-key standardised high quality offer 
(<10KW) based on:
– System size determined by:

• Generation potential (size/orientation of roof)
• Usage volume and pattern

– Preferences for options:
• Storage via power diverter
• Storage via batteries
• PPA for metered export (in development)

P
age 43



Trusted Community Leader ‘hand holding’ overcomes inactivity for 
many
Educates and informs to aid decision making
Hassle free – simple customer journey with off and online 
assistance
Volume enables suppliers to offer more competitive deals which 
households would not otherwise be able to access
Quality control through:
• Due Diligence Installers 
• Fierce criteria for products and work
• Sample checks  
• Panel tests 

5

Breaking the trust barrier

P
age 44



6

Local Authority
Commitment:

¡ Communication:

¡ Direct mail

¡ Local advert/article

¡ Press releases

¡ Social media

¡ Venues info sessions 

¡ Effort: modest investment of time from council officers (est. 30 to 60 hours/council)

Returns

¡ Green energy generation by private investment

¡ Local Authority  enables residents

¡ A referral fee 

¡ Increased activation of the market: solar is (still) interesting for everybody

house 
holds owned targetted

estimated 
result 
2019

owned/ 
HH

target/ 
owned

Greater 
Manchester 1,189,893 713,936 237,979 1,904 60% 33%

P
age 45



7

Timeline

¡ County & councils to confirm commitment: START

¡ Start preparation, installer qualification: from the START

¡ Open registration: START + 8 WEEKS

¡ Auction: START + 13 WEEKS

¡ Start Acceptance: START + 15 WEEKS

¡ End Campaign: START + 20 WEEKS

¡ Holidays within a scheme will lengthen the period

Autumn 2019: START: Mid-July 2019 with campaign start in September

P
age 46



The council must commit to
– direct marketing to the target audience which can 

often be procured at a better rate outside of 
preferred council channels;

– officer time;
– venues for information sessions.

The council can recover costs
– iChoosr receives a referral fee for each successful 

installation which it can share with the council

Council investment and recovery of investment

P
age 47



Next steps towards start of Solar Together scheme

1. Commitment of councils
2. Legal: Contract (example available)
3. Reach out to (local installers) (RECC/STA/REA/Media/direct)
4. Finalise communication strategy
5. Start

9

P
age 48



Product criteria are set

Free registration of interest through internet (any device)

Receive an indication of panels and market pricing

Price is set in a reverse auction by vetted suppliers

Resident receives supplier’s personal offer via iChoosr

During decision period residents visit info session 

If they accept they have a contract

They are asked for a small deposit paid into secure account.

Residents’ details are handed to winning installer.

Winning installer technically surveys the property

If needed the contract is adapted.

Resident either accepts or rejects changed offer.

The installation is planned.

After delivery, resident signs off. 

They receive an invoice from the installer

On payment resident receives handover pack with warranties

From a resident’s 
perspective 

HOW does a scheme 
work?

P
age 49



Installer registers its interest

Installer receives the qualification documents 

It will need to pass a DD, and 4 steps.

Installer receives a draft supplier agreement

Before auction it is sent a final agreement to sign.

The auction is a one-round bid. 

If needed, a 2nd round will determine other winners.

The winning bid will be validated after the win. 

Winning installer will prepare for the scheme

The personal offer is sent by iChoosr

Installer will receive contracted clients daily

Surveying will start immediately 

Some stage projects on short term.

Installations will be policed by independent experts. 

iChoosr will be open for assistance and complaints.

iChoosr will assist the installers

From an installer’s  
perspective 

HOW does a scheme 
work?

P
age 50



Easy

Customer 
friendly

Clear

www.solartogetherlondon.co.uk

P
age 51



george@ichoosr.com
07714 206006

ruud@ichoosr.com
0203 514 4667

Contact details

www.solartogether.co.uk
www.ichoosr.co.uk

P
age 52

mailto:george@ichoosr.com
mailto:ruud@ichoosr.com
http://www.solartogether.co.uk/
http://www.ichoosr.co.uk/


 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER LOW CARBON HUB BOARD 
 

 
Date:  29 July 2019 
 
Subject:  GM Environment Fund 
 
Report of:  Mark Atherton, Asst Director Environment 
 

 
PUPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The purpose of this report is to outline the progress made in establishing a Greater 
Manchester Environment Fund. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Board asked to: 

 Note the progress in identifying the role and opportunities of setting up a GM 
Environment Fund, based initially on voluntary contributions.  

 Note the GMCA’s `in principle’ approval to initiate the Fund and delegate authority 
to CEX, Solicitor and Treasurer, in consultation with the portfolio holder, to agree the 
form and make-up of the Fund. 

 Note that, in the interim, Lancashire Wildlife Trust has been asked to hold existing 
donations to the Fund. 

 Advise whether Board partner organisations could further assist in establishing the 
Fund. 

 
CONTACT OFFICERS 
 
Mark Atherton: mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
Hayley Meaker: hayley.meaker@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

The proposal for the GM Environment Fund was previously raised in: 

Greater Manchester Springboard Report (what do people want, what does the science say) 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/springboard/ 

GM 5 Year Environment plan (what are we going to do in the next 5 years) 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8

mailto:mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:hayley.meaker@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


1.0 BACKGROUND 

At the 2018 Green Summit, the Mayor announced the vision for ‘a carbon neutral, climate 
resilient city-region with a thriving natural environment and circular, zero-waste economy’. 
To support the delivery of this, an action was agreed explore the creation of a Greater 
Manchester Environment Fund (GMEF).  
 
The aim of the GMEF is to improve the quality of the environment within Greater 
Manchester by providing grant funding to non-statutory environmental initiatives that are 
currently underfunded through existing funding mechanisms.  A fund is required to close the 
gap between corporate organisations and institutions who wish (or are required) to address 
their negative environmental impact either through voluntary contribution, to achieve 
compliance with their environmental objectives or as compensation and smaller, grassroots 
organisations who aim to deliver schemes and projects that improve the environment 
within GM.  
 
In particular, it is proposed that there will be a focus on three themes:  
• biodiversity and natural environment,  
• carbon reduction/offsetting,  
• resource efficiency and reducing waste.   
 
Currently there are several large companies and organisations who have expressed interest 
in philanthropic donations. Additionally, some organisations could raise funds through 
regulatory measures. As an example, the Environment Agency could include the GM 
Environment fund to the list of possible benefactors of enforcement undertakings in future, 
potentially seeing enforcement undertakings to be directed into such a Fund. 
 
For some environmental groups looking to attract funding, it is extremely difficult to access 
from these corporate bodies and often their projects, which are generally low value, have to 
brigade funding from multiple sources. This is an ineffective process for these organisations 
with high set up costs, duplication in the bidding process and potentially long lead-in times 
as a result of awaiting multiple bid outcomes before projects can be mobilised.  
  
A GM Environment Fund would provide a clear, consistent and transparent mechanism for 

funders and delivery organisations to set priorities, access and blend finance and deliver 

accountable results, whilst supporting the Mayor’s goal of developing a green city region.  

 
2.0  PROPOSED SCOPE OF THE FUND 
 
Since June 2018, a steering group led by the GMCA, with representation from several public 

and private organisations based or operating in GM have been working together to identify 

what a Greater Manchester Environment Fund might look like. The work has been 

supported by consultants with expertise in environmental finance and investment, as well 

as the Legal team at MCC.  

The steering group’s vision is that the fund will start small and be comprised of 

philanthropic donations. It will mainly focus on natural environment projects but, in time, 

Page 54



may expand to include carbon offsetting projects, resource efficiency and non-statutory 

waste reduction initiatives.  

Examples of such projects could include, but are not limited to: 

- Green infrastructure improvements e.g. tree, wildflower and hedgerow planting on 

roadsides/cycleways/paths.  

- Quality improvements to waterways e.g. sustainable urban drainage systems 

- Improvements to energy efficiency and carbon reduction e.g. building retrofit 

schemes 

- Energy generation and carbon offsetting e.g. peat restoration, PV on community 

buildings 

- Circular economy schemes and improvements to recycling e.g. deposit return 

schemes 

- Environmental education to connect people with their green spaces/ environments  

Fund Model 

Environmental Finance, an organisation that specialises in facilitating private sector funding 

into environmental conservation and community benefit schemes, have worked with the 

GMCA to develop a proposed finance model.  Initially, it is proposed that a simple fund 

model should be established which can receive donations and disseminate them.  

 

3.0 PROPOSED FORM OF THE FUND 

The form that the fund should take has been considered by the steering group with advice 
from MCC Legal Team. There are benefits and limitations with each form but, based on the 
legal advice received, the steering group has a preference for the Fund to be a Charitable 
Company Limited by Guarantee.  It is worth noting that the existing entity for the Lancashire 
Environmental Fund is Lancashire Environmental Fund Ltd, a (charitable) company limited 
by guarantee, with no share capital, of which various councils and other bodies are the 
members/owners. 
 
This model provides sufficient flexibility to grow the Fund in the future (if appropriate) into 
alternative funding approaches.  It is envisaged that the GM Fund will be set up in this way, 
however the final decision on form and function will be agreed as per the recommendation.   
 
 
4.0  CURRENT FUNDING PROPOSALS 
 
A small amount of funding was raised via voluntary contribution from Green Summit 
attendees (c. £1500).  Lancashire Wildlife Trust have been approached to hold this existing 
funding until a charitable company can be established.  
 
Steering group members have been asked to commit a sum towards the initial set up costs 
of the GMEF and also to confirm their ability to direct fines and enforcement undertakings 

Page 55



into the fund (specific to just the EA and UU).  So far steering group organisations have 
pledged: 
 

Member organisation Set up cost contribution Ongoing contribution/ 
approval of fine directing 

Peel L&P £5000 N/A 

Environment Agency £5000 Yes 

United Utilities £5000 (anticipated) Yes 

 
Additionally if GMCA matches these contributions (by making £15k available from the 
retained business rates reserve) to initial set up costs there would be at least £30,000 
available to set up the GMEF.  
 
United Utilities have committed to considering the directing of future enforcement 
undertakings into the Fund, ring-fenced to water related schemes. The Environment Agency, 
(as the relevant regulatory body) has also confirmed their willingness to include the GM 
Environment fund in the list of possible benefactors of enforcement undertakings in future, 
potentially leading to wider future environment fines into a GM Environment Fund.  As an 
example, a recent enforcement undertaking of £540,000 for an environmental breach in 
Poynton was directed into the Mersey Rivers Trust, the Cheshire Wildlife Trust and City of 
Trees. These funds aim to improve conditions in the area ranging from increasing fish 
passage to increase their population, to developing wet woodlands and even reducing 
downstream flood risk. The GMEF could still fund these charities (as well as smaller 
organisations currently unable to access UU/ EA funds) but add benefit by enabling more 
direct access to funds and blended funds.       
 
Additionally further funds could be applied for from the National Lottery Heritage Fund, 
which has funding up to £250,000 available.  
 
There are a number of other income streams for the fund which, in time, could be further 
explored. This includes several expressions of interest for longer-term investment, received 
from both steering group member organisations and others. For these discussions to 
progress to a positive conclusion, the Fund first needs to be established and operate 
successfully under a more basic donations based model.   
 
4.1  Setup costs 
 
In order for the GMEF to become established, a dedicated resource will be required to set 
up the fund’s legal structure as a CLG, encourage additional corporate contributions and (if 
appropriate) develop the funding model further in the future. It has previously been agreed 
that GMCA currently lacks capacity to do this but a number of existing GM Charitable Trusts 
could undertake this role and would charge a percentage of the fund as their commission 
for administration.  It is therefore recommended that an external organisation is 
competitively procured to do this. The GMCA would have a seat on the Board of this 
charitable trust, enabling it to retain some influence over the running of the GMEF including 
setting the parameters in its articles, but the organisation would remain independent.    
 

Page 56



With initial investment of £30,000 it is envisaged that this would enable: 
 

CLG bank account £5000 + £1500 donations 

CLG legal costs £5000 

Initial costs of Fund 
Manager/advocate 

£20,000 

 
 
5.0  NEXT STEPS 
 
It is proposed that a procurement exercise is undertaken to identify a suitable body to set 
up and manage the GM Environment Fund.   
 
The application process to become a Charitable Company Limited by Guarantee will be 
undertaken by this body. MCC advise that it will take up to 3 months to go through the 
application process which will require a clear mission statement, articles of association and 
governing documents. To submit an application for charitable status, a bank account will 
also need to be set up with a minimum balance of £5000.  
 
Trustees of the organisation will have to be recruited, with a minimum of three advised for a 
Board. A number of suitable individuals, from within and out with the steering group, have 
expressed an interest. The Environment Agency are also willing to sit on the board in an 
advisory capacity.  
  
 
6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Board asked to: 

 Note the progress in identifying the role and opportunities of setting up a GM 
Environment Fund, based initially on voluntary contributions.  

 Note the GMCA’s `in principle’ approval to initiate the Fund and delegate authority 
to CEX, Solicitor and Treasurer, in consultation with the portfolio holder, to agree the 
form and make-up of the Fund. 

 Note that, in the interim, Lancashire Wildlife Trust has been asked to hold existing 
donations to the Fund. 

 Advise whether Board partner organisations could further assist in establishing the 
Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER LOW CARBON HUB BOARD 
 
 
Date:  29 July 2019 
  
Subject: Making Trees Count: an update on All Our Trees,  GM’s Tree and 

Woodland Strategy 
 
Report of: Bryan Cosgrove, City of Trees 
 

 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The paper provides an update on the draft GM Tree and Woodland Strategy (All Our 
Trees), that has been developed by City of Trees on behalf of the GM Forests 
Partnership.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Board is requested to: 

 Note the progress is developing the Strategy since the presentation to the 
previous meeting. 

 Provide comment to City of Trees on the intended route to sign-off for the 
draft GM Tree and Woodland Strategy 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Bryan Cosgrove 
bryan@cityoftrees.org.uk 
Tel: 0161 872 1660 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9b

mailto:bryan@cityoftrees.org.uk


1. BACKGROUND 
 
City of Trees has been developing a Tree and Woodland strategy for Greater 
Manchester on behalf of the GM Forests Partnership of local authorities, Woodland 
Trust, and Forestry Commission.  
 
Greater Manchester’s trees are essential for its future health, prosperity and 
resilience. A GM wide strategy, that sits alongside the suite of GM Strategies for 
managing our economy and infrastructure, is needed set out how we maximise the 
public benefits that they provide, helping to ensure existing trees are protected from 
disease and development, and that effort to expand our urban forest is targeted to 
where benefits from trees are most needed, and most likely to be realised.  
 
The starting point for the strategy was to quantify GM’s tree resource and the 
benefits that this provided, City of Trees adopted the i-Tree Eco method of tree 
ecosystem service valuation, using data from sample plots to generate a model of 
the composition, structure and condition of the entire forest canopy. This model 
quantifies the scale and cash value of Carbon Storage, Pollution Removal, Carbon 
Sequestration, and Avoided Runoff benefits. Importantly, the model also allows 
these benefits to be forecasted into the future.  
 
It is intended that the Tree and Woodland Strategy be adopted by the GMCA as a 
component of its strategic framework, and furthermore, that the strategy be adopted 
by as supplementary planning guidance.  
 
 
2. STRUCTURE OF THE STRATEGY 
 
The strategy is presented in four distinct sections:  
 

 The vision and strategy - Sets out Greater Manchester’s priorities for trees 
underpinned by common principles and the actions required to achieve the aims 
of the plan at each scale.  

 

 The Evidence Base - Provides detailed analysis of the distribution, structure, 
function and value of Greater Manchester’s trees, highlighting the importance of 
retaining the trees we already have.  

 

 Where do We Need more Trees – A series of maps (to be made available 
digitally) that identify right down to the level of an individual garden, pavement, or 
car park where more trees are most needed. Need is assessed according to each 
in-scope ecosystem benefit, so that future planting schemes are targeted where 
they will provide the greatest benefit.  

 

 Guidance and Standards – Extensive guidance / best practise/ policy for 
managing existing trees and woodlands including how best to deal with the 
threats from tree diseases. Also, guidance on what and how to plant and care for 
trees, both in hard landscapes and natural environments, to ensure they are fit for 
our future climate, and can reach their maximum potential.  

 

Page 60



 
3. KEY MESSAGES FROM THE STRATEGY 
 
Older, larger trees deliver exponentially more benefits than smaller, immature trees 
so we need to ensure we have a coherent plan for ensuring tree cover and tree 
benefits are expanded not lost.  
 
When considering new development, GM’s planners need to adopt a natural capital 
approach when considering impact of tree loss, and move away from a simple 
numeric replacement to ensure GM doesn’t suffer a net loss of service provision.  
 
GM will lose some of its tree cover over the lifetime of this strategy, whether as a 
result of development, disease, or simply old age. In order to continue to benefit from 
our trees, we urgently need to plan for their replacement, plant many more than we 
will lose, and plant them where their benefit is most needed.  
 
The vast majority of plantable land in GM, and land with existing tree cover, is 
outwith Local Authority control, private landowners are key to managing our tree 
cover, and releasing land for planting.  

 
 

4. PROGRESS 
 

Having completed data gathering and preparation of the evidence base at the start of 
2019, the draft strategy has now been through a first round of consultation with 
officers of the GM Forests Partnership, and other key stakeholders. Comments are 
now being sought from as wide a range of stakeholders as possible before an 
advanced draft is presented back to the partnership in September. It is planned that 
a final draft would be available for consideration for approval by the GMCA by 
October 2019.  
 
Following approval, City of Trees proposes to work with the GMCA and the 10 
districts to embed the principles and targets of the Strategy in Local Plans and other 
key strategies and policies. 

A series of consultations has been taking place with those colleagues involved in 
planning and preparation of the GM Spatial Framework (GMSF), to progress the 
adoption of Strategy as a Supplementary Planning Document. It is understood that 
this process will likely take somewhat longer to allow for statutory public consultation 
and finalisation of the GMSF.  
 
 
5. NEXT STEPS 
 

 Redrafting, following first round consultation 

 Consultation (2nd Round) GM Forests Partnership – September 2019 

 Present to Planning & Housing Commission – September 2019 

 Present to GMCA for approval – October 

Page 61

http://5.gm/


 Autumn onwards – embedding strategy in Local Plans, integration with other 

key GM documents, and developing joint working approaches to deliver the 

strategy 

 

6. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
The Board is requested to: 

 Note the progress is developing the Strategy since the presentation to the 
previous meeting. 

 Provide comment to City of Trees on the intended route to sign-off for the 
draft GM Tree and Woodland Strategy 

 

Page 62



 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER LOW CARBON HUB BOARD 
 

 
Date:  29 July 2019 
 
Subject:  GM Environment Fund 
 
Report of:  Mark Atherton, Asst Director Environment 
 

 
PUPOSE OF REPORT 
 
The purpose of this report is to outline the progress made in establishing a Greater 
Manchester Environment Fund. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Board asked to: 

 Note the progress in identifying the role and opportunities of setting up a GM 
Environment Fund, based initially on voluntary contributions.  

 Note the GMCA’s `in principle’ approval to initiate the Fund and delegate authority 
to CEX, Solicitor and Treasurer, in consultation with the portfolio holder, to agree the 
form and make-up of the Fund. 

 Note that, in the interim, Lancashire Wildlife Trust has been asked to hold existing 
donations to the Fund. 

 Advise whether Board partner organisations could further assist in establishing the 
Fund. 

 
CONTACT OFFICERS 
 
Mark Atherton: mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
Hayley Meaker: hayley.meaker@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

The proposal for the GM Environment Fund was previously raised in: 

Greater Manchester Springboard Report (what do people want, what does the science say) 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/springboard/ 

GM 5 Year Environment plan (what are we going to do in the next 5 years) 

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf 

Page 63

Agenda Item 10

mailto:mark.atherton@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:hayley.meaker@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


1.0 BACKGROUND 

At the 2018 Green Summit, the Mayor announced the vision for ‘a carbon neutral, climate 
resilient city-region with a thriving natural environment and circular, zero-waste economy’. 
To support the delivery of this, an action was agreed explore the creation of a Greater 
Manchester Environment Fund (GMEF).  
 
The aim of the GMEF is to improve the quality of the environment within Greater 
Manchester by providing grant funding to non-statutory environmental initiatives that are 
currently underfunded through existing funding mechanisms.  A fund is required to close the 
gap between corporate organisations and institutions who wish (or are required) to address 
their negative environmental impact either through voluntary contribution, to achieve 
compliance with their environmental objectives or as compensation and smaller, grassroots 
organisations who aim to deliver schemes and projects that improve the environment 
within GM.  
 
In particular, it is proposed that there will be a focus on three themes:  
• biodiversity and natural environment,  
• carbon reduction/offsetting,  
• resource efficiency and reducing waste.   
 
Currently there are several large companies and organisations who have expressed interest 
in philanthropic donations. Additionally, some organisations could raise funds through 
regulatory measures. As an example, the Environment Agency could include the GM 
Environment fund to the list of possible benefactors of enforcement undertakings in future, 
potentially seeing enforcement undertakings to be directed into such a Fund. 
 
For some environmental groups looking to attract funding, it is extremely difficult to access 
from these corporate bodies and often their projects, which are generally low value, have to 
brigade funding from multiple sources. This is an ineffective process for these organisations 
with high set up costs, duplication in the bidding process and potentially long lead-in times 
as a result of awaiting multiple bid outcomes before projects can be mobilised.  
  
A GM Environment Fund would provide a clear, consistent and transparent mechanism for 

funders and delivery organisations to set priorities, access and blend finance and deliver 

accountable results, whilst supporting the Mayor’s goal of developing a green city region.  

 
2.0  PROPOSED SCOPE OF THE FUND 
 
Since June 2018, a steering group led by the GMCA, with representation from several public 

and private organisations based or operating in GM have been working together to identify 

what a Greater Manchester Environment Fund might look like. The work has been 

supported by consultants with expertise in environmental finance and investment, as well 

as the Legal team at MCC.  

The steering group’s vision is that the fund will start small and be comprised of 

philanthropic donations. It will mainly focus on natural environment projects but, in time, 

Page 64



may expand to include carbon offsetting projects, resource efficiency and non-statutory 

waste reduction initiatives.  

Examples of such projects could include, but are not limited to: 

- Green infrastructure improvements e.g. tree, wildflower and hedgerow planting on 

roadsides/cycleways/paths.  

- Quality improvements to waterways e.g. sustainable urban drainage systems 

- Improvements to energy efficiency and carbon reduction e.g. building retrofit 

schemes 

- Energy generation and carbon offsetting e.g. peat restoration, PV on community 

buildings 

- Circular economy schemes and improvements to recycling e.g. deposit return 

schemes 

- Environmental education to connect people with their green spaces/ environments  

Fund Model 

Environmental Finance, an organisation that specialises in facilitating private sector funding 

into environmental conservation and community benefit schemes, have worked with the 

GMCA to develop a proposed finance model.  Initially, it is proposed that a simple fund 

model should be established which can receive donations and disseminate them.  

 

3.0 PROPOSED FORM OF THE FUND 

The form that the fund should take has been considered by the steering group with advice 
from MCC Legal Team. There are benefits and limitations with each form but, based on the 
legal advice received, the steering group has a preference for the Fund to be a Charitable 
Company Limited by Guarantee.  It is worth noting that the existing entity for the Lancashire 
Environmental Fund is Lancashire Environmental Fund Ltd, a (charitable) company limited 
by guarantee, with no share capital, of which various councils and other bodies are the 
members/owners. 
 
This model provides sufficient flexibility to grow the Fund in the future (if appropriate) into 
alternative funding approaches.  It is envisaged that the GM Fund will be set up in this way, 
however the final decision on form and function will be agreed as per the recommendation.   
 
 
4.0  CURRENT FUNDING PROPOSALS 
 
A small amount of funding was raised via voluntary contribution from Green Summit 
attendees (c. £1500).  Lancashire Wildlife Trust have been approached to hold this existing 
funding until a charitable company can be established.  
 
Steering group members have been asked to commit a sum towards the initial set up costs 
of the GMEF and also to confirm their ability to direct fines and enforcement undertakings 

Page 65



into the fund (specific to just the EA and UU).  So far steering group organisations have 
pledged: 
 

Member organisation Set up cost contribution Ongoing contribution/ 
approval of fine directing 

Peel L&P £5000 N/A 

Environment Agency £5000 Yes 

United Utilities £5000 (anticipated) Yes 

 
Additionally if GMCA matches these contributions (by making £15k available from the 
retained business rates reserve) to initial set up costs there would be at least £30,000 
available to set up the GMEF.  
 
United Utilities have committed to considering the directing of future enforcement 
undertakings into the Fund, ring-fenced to water related schemes. The Environment Agency, 
(as the relevant regulatory body) has also confirmed their willingness to include the GM 
Environment fund in the list of possible benefactors of enforcement undertakings in future, 
potentially leading to wider future environment fines into a GM Environment Fund.  As an 
example, a recent enforcement undertaking of £540,000 for an environmental breach in 
Poynton was directed into the Mersey Rivers Trust, the Cheshire Wildlife Trust and City of 
Trees. These funds aim to improve conditions in the area ranging from increasing fish 
passage to increase their population, to developing wet woodlands and even reducing 
downstream flood risk. The GMEF could still fund these charities (as well as smaller 
organisations currently unable to access UU/ EA funds) but add benefit by enabling more 
direct access to funds and blended funds.       
 
Additionally further funds could be applied for from the National Lottery Heritage Fund, 
which has funding up to £250,000 available.  
 
There are a number of other income streams for the fund which, in time, could be further 
explored. This includes several expressions of interest for longer-term investment, received 
from both steering group member organisations and others. For these discussions to 
progress to a positive conclusion, the Fund first needs to be established and operate 
successfully under a more basic donations based model.   
 
4.1  Setup costs 
 
In order for the GMEF to become established, a dedicated resource will be required to set 
up the fund’s legal structure as a CLG, encourage additional corporate contributions and (if 
appropriate) develop the funding model further in the future. It has previously been agreed 
that GMCA currently lacks capacity to do this but a number of existing GM Charitable Trusts 
could undertake this role and would charge a percentage of the fund as their commission 
for administration.  It is therefore recommended that an external organisation is 
competitively procured to do this. The GMCA would have a seat on the Board of this 
charitable trust, enabling it to retain some influence over the running of the GMEF including 
setting the parameters in its articles, but the organisation would remain independent.    
 

Page 66



With initial investment of £30,000 it is envisaged that this would enable: 
 

CLG bank account £5000 + £1500 donations 

CLG legal costs £5000 

Initial costs of Fund 
Manager/advocate 

£20,000 

 
 
5.0  NEXT STEPS 
 
It is proposed that a procurement exercise is undertaken to identify a suitable body to set 
up and manage the GM Environment Fund.   
 
The application process to become a Charitable Company Limited by Guarantee will be 
undertaken by this body. MCC advise that it will take up to 3 months to go through the 
application process which will require a clear mission statement, articles of association and 
governing documents. To submit an application for charitable status, a bank account will 
also need to be set up with a minimum balance of £5000.  
 
Trustees of the organisation will have to be recruited, with a minimum of three advised for a 
Board. A number of suitable individuals, from within and out with the steering group, have 
expressed an interest. The Environment Agency are also willing to sit on the board in an 
advisory capacity.  
  
 
6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Board asked to: 

 Note the progress in identifying the role and opportunities of setting up a GM 
Environment Fund, based initially on voluntary contributions.  

 Note the GMCA’s `in principle’ approval to initiate the Fund and delegate authority 
to CEX, Solicitor and Treasurer, in consultation with the portfolio holder, to agree the 
form and make-up of the Fund. 

 Note that, in the interim, Lancashire Wildlife Trust has been asked to hold existing 
donations to the Fund. 

 Advise whether Board partner organisations could further assist in establishing the 
Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Directions to NCP car park for Churchgate House (reduced rate of £7 per day) 

Please note there is no access to the car park off Oxford Road and there is no vehicle 

access on the section of Oxford Road, directly outside of Churchgate House, between 6am 

and 9pm (please see second map and the following website for more details - 

https://www.tfgm.com/maps/oxford-road ). To access, please go via Great Bridgewater 

Street. Please check in advance, the instructions given my your sat nav, to ensure it hasn’t 

planned a route which takes you down the restricted part of Oxford Road.  

Address for NCP Manchester Oxford Road - M1 5EJ 

Address for Churchgate House -  Churchgate House,  56 Oxford St,  Manchester, M1 6EU 

 

 

Churchgate House 

Churchgate House 

NCP 

Page 69

Agenda Annex

https://www.tfgm.com/maps/oxford-road


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 MINUTES
	4a Mission Based Approach - Presentation (Mark Atherton)
	4b Performance Report Quarter 1 2019/20 - Paper (Simon Nokes)
	04-2i Annex 01 - Environment Team Peformance Overview
	04-2ii Performance Report Annex 02 - 5 Year Environment Plan Performance

	4c Governance Changes and Terms of Reference - Paper (Chair)
	5 COLLECTIVE PV/BATTERY PROCUREMENT - PAPER (MARK ATHERTON) (10 MINUTES)
	05a PV Collective Purchase Annex1

	8 GM ENVIRONMENT FUND - PAPER (MARK ATHERTON) (10 MINUTES)
	9b Tree and Woodland Strategy - Paper (Bryan Cosgrove)
	10 FUNDING BIDS - LOCAL ENERGY MARKET BID - PAPER (5 MINUTES)
	 Car Parking Instructions

